
 
 

 
 
Committee: 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Date: 
 

THURSDAY, 13 NOVEMBER 2025 

Venue: 
 

MORECAMBE TOWN HALL 

Time: 1.00 P.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence  
 
2. Minutes  
 
 To receive as a correct record the Minutes of meeting held on 11th September 2025 

(previously circulated).   
  
3. Items of Urgent Business authorised by the Chair  
 
4. Declarations of Interest  
 
 To receive declarations by Councillors of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.   

Councillors are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are 
required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting).   

Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Councillors should declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the meeting.   

In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code Of Conduct, Councillors are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 
9(2) of the Code of Conduct.   

  
 Matters for Decision  
 
 Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 
5. Exempt Item  
 
 The Committee is recommended to pass the following recommendation in relation to the 

following items:   
 
“That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business, on the 
grounds that they could involve the possible disclosure of exempt information, as defined 
in paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A of that Act.”   



 

 
Councillors are reminded that, whilst the following items have been marked as exempt, it 
is for the Committee to decide whether or not to consider them in private or in public.  In 
making the decision, Councillors should consider the relevant paragraph of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972, and also whether the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  In considering their 
discretion, Councillors should also be mindful of the advice of Council officers.   

  
6. Existing Dual Drivers Licence Holder (Pages 3 - 26) 
 
 Report of the Licensing Officer 
  
7. Urgent Decision Review of a Dual Drivers Licence (Pages 27 - 30) 
 
 Report of the Licensing Manger 
  
 The press and public will be re-admitted to the meeting at this point  
 
8. Hackney Carriage Area Demand Survey (Pages 31 - 113) 
 
 Report of the Licensing Manager 
  
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
(i) Membership 

 
 Councillors Paul Tynan (Chair), Sally Maddocks (Vice-Chair), Louise Belcher, 

Gerry Blaikie, Martin Bottoms, Maria Deery, Martin Gawith, John Hanson, 
Margaret Pattison and John Wild 
 

 
(ii) Queries regarding this Agenda 

 
 Please contact Sarah Moorghen, Democratic Support - email 

smoorghen@lancaster.gov.uk. 
 

(iii) Changes to Membership, or apologies 
 

 Please contact Democratic Support, telephone 582000, or alternatively email 
democracy@lancaster.gov.uk.  
 
 
 

MARK DAVIES, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, 
TOWN HALL, 
DALTON SQUARE, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ 
 
Published on 5th November 2025.   

 

mailto:democracy@lancaster.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 3 Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 26
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 27 Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 30
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



 

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE  

 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AREA DEMAND SURVEY   

 
13 November 2025 

 
Report of the Licensing Manager 

  
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To update members on the proposed Hackney Carriage Area Demand Survey 2025/26. 
 

This report is public. 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
It is recommended that members note the contents of the report. 
 
1.0  Report  
 
1.1 As Members will be aware, the Council currently has a policy of restricting the 

number of Hackney Carriage licences issued. However, in maintaining such a policy 
the Council must provide evidence that there is no significant unmet demand for 
Hackney Carriage services within the area in order to be in a position to refuse any 
new applications for additional licences.  

 
1.2 The present legal provision on quantity restrictions outside London is set out in 

section 16 of the Transport Act 1985.  This provides that the grant of a taxi (hackney 
carriage) licence may be refused, for the purpose of limiting the numbers of licensed 
taxis ‘if, but only if, the [local licensing authority] is satisfied that there is no significant 
demand for the services of hackney carriages (within the area to which the licence 
would apply) which is unmet’ 

 
 For this purpose, it is considered necessary to commission an independent survey to 

assess the level of demand for hackney carriage services, and that such survey 
should be conducted by an organisation specialising in this area of work.  

 
1.3 Members may recall that in 2022/23 a hackney carriage area demand survey was 

carried out by on the Council’s behalf by LVSA (Licensed Vehicle Surveys and 
Analysis). At that time, the survey concluded that there was no significant unmet 
demand for hackney carriages. The cap was therefore maintained at 108. 

 
 Members may recall that a decision was taken to issue 2 additional wheelchair 

accessible Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences, this was to address the local 
shortfalls in accessibility. The number of Hackney Carriages operating in the district 
is currently capped at 110. 

  
 The 2022/23 survey report is attached at Appendix 1. 

Page 31 Agenda Item 8



 
 There is a general acceptance that the findings of hackney carriage demand surveys 

are valid for no longer than three years. Therefore, a further survey should be 
undertaken in the coming months. 

 
1.4 The Licensing Manager approached other Lancashire and Cumbrian licensing 

authorities for recommendations of providers of the surveys, this was to obtain 
quotes and offer a discussion on the needs of the survey specific to Lancaster. All 
those who maintain a cap offered the same provider, LVSA (Licensed Vehicle 
Surveys and Analysis).  

 
 Following a discussion with Ian Millership of LVSA, a quote and associated scope of 

the survey was offered and agreed by the Licensing Manager.  
 
 The proposed scope of the survey is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
1.5 The cost of the survey is recovered via Hackney Carriage Licence fees, with the total 

cost being split equally between 110 proprietors over 3 years, (£111.00 total cost, 
approx. £37.00 per year) 

 
1.6 Views of the local licensed trade were requested via a poll; members of the trade 

were asked to vote whether they thought the Licensing Authority should undertake 
the survey or not. Members of the trade were informed of the costs associated with 
the survey and recovery confirmed through licence fees.  

 
If no survey was undertaken, it would result in deregulation; the cap would be 
removed and further Hackney Carriage proprietor licences being considered by the 
Licensing Authority. 

 
The results of the poll are as follows: 
 
28 persons – YES (in favour of undertaking the survey) 
14 persons – NO (not in favour of undertaking the survey) 

 
1.7 Licensing maintain a list of all trade email addresses provided upon application; this 

have proved the most efficient and cost-effective way of communication. Over 480 
emails were sent. 42 responses were received from a cross section of the trade. 

 
2.0 Conclusion  
 
2.1 That members note the contents of the report. 
 
2.2 The finding of the survey and subsequent report will be presented to Licensing 
 Committee members at a future meeting.  
 

 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability and Rural 
Proofing) 
 
There are no such implications arising from this report. 
 

Page 32



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no financial implications arising from the report at this stage. The cost of the 
survey is recovered from hackney carriage licence fees. As the cap is currently 110, each 
proprietor upon renewal will cover an equal proportion of the total cost. 
 
A written quotation is provided and offers transparency in the decision-making process. 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
There are no direct legal implications at this stage.  No decision is to be taken at this time on 
whether to maintain the limit on the number of hackney carriage vehicle licences so not 
subject to legal challenge. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 

Contact Officer: Jennifer Curtis 
Telephone:  01524 582732 
E-mail: jcurtis@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: UDS2025/26 

 

Page 33



 

 

 

Lancaster City Council 
Unmet demand survey 

March 2023 
 

Page 34



  

Page 35



 

 

i Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 

Executive Summary 
This survey of unmet demand for hackney carriages has been undertaken on 
behalf of Lancaster City Council following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT 
Best Practice Guidance document, and all relevant case history with reference 
to unmet demand. This Executive Summary draws together key points from 
the main report that are needed to allow a committee to determine from the 
facts presented their current position with respect to the policy of limiting 
hackney carriage vehicle licences according to Section 16 of the 1985 
Transport Act. It is a summary of the main report which follows and should not 
be relied upon solely to justify any decisions of a committee but must be read 
in conjunction with the full report below. 

Rank usage in the area has halved since the last survey which occurred just in 
advance of the pandemic (but was not impacted by it). Despite reduced usage 
of hackney carriages at ranks, unmet demand has increased but not to a great 
extent, and the level of significance of unmet demand value is just under 9, a 
long way from the level of 80. Even if the private station rank performance is 
added in the level only rises to just under 42. The permit requirement at the 
station is clearly leading to worse service than would otherwise occur, but that 
issue is outside the influence of the Council. 

The level of usage by people travelling in wheel chairs in the area is exactly 
the same now as in the last survey – an important and valuable benefit. Latent 
demand both in terms of asking people and in terms of measuring those 
walking away is actually reduced, showing improved passenger confidence that 
a hackney carriage will arrive if you wait. Passenger surveys show a big shift 
to use of apps, and in some cases app usage may be considered to be hailing, 
which is a public safety concern. The level of paid journeys per vehicle per day 
was very low in the last survey – 4.9; that value is now 2.7 and it is clear that 
no hackney carriage can survive on rank passengers alone. 

The present survey found a very changed picture of a strong decline in use of 
hackney carriages across the authority area. Both volume and extent of ranks 
used has reduced. The current limit on vehicle licences appears to be the last 
vestige of any stability for the hackney carriage fleet. It does appear to provide 
public benefit to the area – without it there would have been much more 
significant reduction in hackney carriage vehicle numbers. 

The situation is at the point that the limit could now be amended to be a 
moratorium on issue of new hackney carriage plates, which would mean there 
might end up some reduction in plates although often setting such a policy can 
perversely lead to some holding on to licences due to their perceived value. 

Page 36



 

 

ii Unmet demand survey 

 

 

If hackney carriages remain an important feature of the licensed vehicle and 
public transport service of Lancaster City, urgent action is needed to keep them 
viable. Actions are needed regarding protecting ranks for hackney carriage 
usage – particularly at North Road. If Penny Street is to be retained it needs 
revision and encouragement for use by both passengers and trade. Serious 
discussion is needed about if night rank provision is needed in Morecambe or 
not. The big issue is that provision and revision of ranks requires co-operation 
with the County and these changes are not within the direct gift of the 
authority. However, the action is important because abuse of active hackney 
carriage ranks is a strong matter of public safety. 

Further, promotion is needed to confirm to the travelling public in the City and 
those visiting the differences between hackney carriage and private hire and 
in particular when you are insured for your journey and not. Exactly what and 
how you can use an app is also an important matter of education as the blurring 
between app use and hailing is not as trivial as it might appear.  

Page 37



 

 

iii Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ..................................................                 i 

Contents ........................................................................             iii 

1 General introduction and background ...........              1 

2 Local background and context ..........................               13 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys)         21 

4 General public views .............................................           31 

5 Key stakeholder consultation ............................         39 

6 Trade stakeholder views .....................................         41 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance       45 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions         49 

9 Recommendations .................................................         59 

 

  

Page 38



  

Page 39



 

 

1 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

1 General introduction and background 
Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA) is a joint venture between 
CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd (CTS) and Vector Transport Consultancy. 
These two companies have hitherto been the two leading practitioners of 
hackney carriage unmet demand surveys in recent years and who joined forces 
in early 2017. The combined experience of this joint venture covers in the 
order of 250 similar studies undertaken since 1999. The contracting company 
for this survey, CTS, also undertook the previous four surveys for this 
authority, in 2019, 2016, 2013 and 2010. 

Lancaster City Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicles operating within the Council area and is the licensing 
authority for this complete area. Further details of the local application of 
Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act with regard to limiting hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers is provided in further Chapters of this report. Hackney 
carriage vehicle licences are the only part of licensing where such a stipulation 
occurs and there is no legal means by which either private hire vehicle 
numbers, private hire or hackney carriage driver numbers, or the number of 
private hire operators can be limited.  

The Best Practice Guidance 
This review of current policy is based on the Best Practice Guidance produced 
by the Department for Transport in April 2010 (BPG). It seeks to provide 
information to the licensing authority to meet section 16 of the Transport Act 
1985 “that the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence may be refused if, 
but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there is no significant 
demand for the services of hackney carriages within its local area, which is 
unmet.” This terminology is typically shortened to “no SUD”. 

Several sections of the BPG were revised by the introduction of the “Statutory 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards” (STPHVS) document on 23rd July 2020 
(see further detail below). None of these resulted in any material change to 
the elements regarding unmet demand and its review. At the end of March 
2022, consultation began on a fully revised version of the BPG, with responses 
due back by 20th June 2022 but no final date for acceptance of the revised 
document. An initial review suggested again no material change in the 
elements regarding unmet demand and its review. 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 

 

2 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Legal Background 
Current hackney carriage, private hire and operator licensing is undertaken 
within the legal frameworks first set by the Town Polices Clause Act 1847 
(TPCA), amended and supplemented by various following legislation including 
the Transport Act 1985, Section 16 in regard to hackney carriage vehicle limits, 
and by the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 with reference 
to private hire vehicles and operations. This latter Act saw application of 
regulation to the then growing private hire sector which had not been 
previously part of the TPCA. Many of the aspects of these laws have been 
tested and refined by other more recent legislation and more importantly 
through case law.  

Public Experience 
Beyond legislation, the experience of the person in the street tends to see both 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles both as ‘taxis’ – a term we will try 
for the sake of clarity to use only in its generic sense within the report. We will 
use the term ‘licensed vehicle’ to refer to both hackney carriage and private 
hire. 

Legislative Developments 
The legislation around licensed vehicles and their drivers has been the subject 
of many attempts at review. The limiting of hackney carriage vehicle numbers 
has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive 
practice and against natural economic trends.  

The five most recent reviews were by the Office of Fair Trading in 2003, 
through the production of the Best Practice Guidance in 2010 (BPG 2010), the 
Law Commission review which published its results in 2014, the All-Party 
Parliamentary Task and Finish Group which reported in September 2018, the 
Government Response in February 2019 leading to a part revision of BPG 2010, 
and the 2022 consultation on a more comprehensive BPG 2010 review (BG 
22). None of these resulted in any material change to the legislation involved 
in licensing. 

Legislative Additions 
There have been some actual changes to legislation (not guidance) put in place 
over recent years.  
 
The Deregulation Act 2015 had two clauses relevant to taxi licensing – relating 
to length of period covered by licences (Section 10) and allowance of operators 
to transfer work across borders (Section 11) (both enacted October 2015). 

 

Page 41



 

 

3 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

In November 2016, the Department of Transport (DfT) undertook its 
consultation regarding enacting Sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010. 
These allowed for all vehicles capable of carrying a wheel chair being placed 
on a list by the Council (Section 167) leading to any driver that uses a vehicle 
on this list having a duty under Section 165 to: 

- Carry the passenger while in the wheel chair 
- Not make any additional charge for doing so 
- If the passenger so chooses to travel in a seat to make provision for 

proper and safe carriage of the wheel chair 
- To take such steps as are necessary to ensure the passenger is carried 

in safety and reasonable comfort 
- To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required 

Since enactment in April 2017 issues with discrimination have not reduced as 
much as expected and further change occurred with one of two 2022 Acts put 
in place (see below). 

The two 2022 Acts make small but significant changes. The 2022 Acts are the 
“Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (Safeguarding and Road Safety Act) (31 March 
2022)” and the “Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (Disabled Persons) (28 June 
2022)”. 

The first makes it mandatory for any licensing authority in England that has 
information about a taxi (hackney carriage) or private hire vehicle (phv) driver 
licensed by another authority that is relevant to safeguarding or road safety 
concerns in its area to share that information with the authority that issued 
that drivers licence.  

The second amends the Equality Act 2010 to place duties on taxi and phv 
drivers and operators such that any disabled person has specific rights and 
protections to be transported and receive assistance when using a taxi or phv 
without being charged extra for doing so. 
 
Regard has also been had to the Statutory Taxi and Private Standards July 
2020 which were published on 21 July 2020 and represented a milestone in 
transportation regulation, because for the first time the safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable people were put right at the heart of the taxi licensing 
system. This publication also noted that a more complete review of all sections 
of the 2010 Best Practice Guidance would occur in due course and consultation 
on a draft of this new document ran from March to June 2022. 

At the time of writing of this report, no date had still been given for formal 
publication of the new DfT Best Practice Guidance following the close of the 
consultation period. 

Page 42



 

 

4 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Recent Research and Reviews 
With respect to the principal subject of this survey, local authorities retain the 
right to restrict the number of hackney carriage vehicle licenses. The Law 
Commission conclusion (Law Commission, Taxi and Private Hire Services, Law 
Com No 347, May 2014, ref CM8864) included retention of the power to limit 
hackney carriage vehicle numbers but utilizing a public interest test 
determined by the Secretary of State. It also suggested the three- year horizon 
also be used for rank reviews and accessibility reviews. In the end, no 
comprehensive legislative review occurred and the focus is now on the 
expected updated BPG22. 

During the pandemic, the DfT formally advised authorities to delay unmet 
demand reviews beyond this three-year interval as they advised any review in 
the midst of the pandemic was not sufficiently typical to be of value. Most 
authorities accepted this review. 

Alternatives to limiting vehicle numbers 
A more recent restriction, often applied to areas where there is no ‘quantity’ 
control felt to exist per-se, is that of ‘quality control’. This is often a pseudonym 
for a restriction that any new hackney carriage vehicle licence must be for a 
wheel chair accessible vehicle, of various kinds as determined locally. In many 
places this implies a restricted number of saloon style hackney carriage 
licences are available, which often are given ‘grandfather’ rights to remain as 
saloon style. 

Within this quality restriction, there are various levels of strength of the types 
of vehicles allowed. The tightest restriction, now only retained by a few 
authorities only allows ‘London’ style wheel chair accessible vehicles, restricted 
to those with a 25-foot turning circle, and at the present time principally the 
LTI Tx, the Mercedes Vito special edition with steerable rear axle, and the 
Metrocab (no longer produced).  

Others allow a wider range of van style conversions in their wheel chair 
accessible fleet, whilst some go as far as also allowing rear-loading 
conversions. Given the additional price of these vehicles, this often implies a 
restriction on entry to the hackney carriage trade. 

Some authorities do not allow vehicles which appear to be hackney carriage, 
i.e. mainly the London style vehicles, to be within the private hire fleet, whilst 
others do allow wheel chair vehicles. The most usual method of distinguishing 
between hackney carriages and private hire is a ‘Taxi’ roof sign on the vehicle, 
although again some areas do allow roof signs on private hire as long as they 
do not say ‘Taxi’, some turn those signs at right angles, whilst others apply 
liveries, mainly to hackney carriage fleets, but sometimes also to private hire 
fleets. 

Page 43



 

 

5 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

More recent considerations have added how greater and speedier introduction 
of more sustainable vehicle propulsion might be encouraged in the licensed 
vehicle fleets. Air quality zones have also had significant impacts, and in many 
areas more recently agglomeration of councils has modified overall policies 
towards licensed vehicles. 

Further, the plans to introduce Section 161, and the determination of a 
proportion of WAV that any fleet must have by the Secretary of State (a quota), 
are a long way from even any consultation being undertaken. This issue was 
considered by the Law Commission but they stated ‘we did not consider quotas 
of wheel chair accessible vehicles to be a suitable issue for treatment within a 
national licensing framework’ (Law Commission Final Report para 12.60), 
nonetheless they reiterated that any such quotas should be decided by 
individual licensing authorities in response to local needs. They also quoted 
DPTAC suggestion the quota should be over 30% and that the Joint Committee 
on Mobility for Disabled People had suggested a minimum of 50% (Law 
Commission Final Report para 12.61). The often quoted 35% quota was from 
an earlier European Research document. 

The Index of Significant Unmet Demand (ISUD) Tool 
After introduction of the 1985 Transport Act, Leeds University Institute for 
Transport Studies developed a tool by which unmet demand could be evaluated 
and a determination made if this was significant or not. The tool was taken 
forward and developed as more studies were undertaken. Over time this ‘index 
of significance of unmet demand’ (ISUD) became accepted as an industry 
standard tool to be used for this purpose.  

Some revisions have been made following the few but specific court cases 
where various parties have challenged the policy of retaining a limit.  

Some of the application has differed between Scottish and English authorities. 
This is mainly due to some court cases in Scotland taking interpretation of the 
duty of the licensing authority further than is usual in England and Wales, 
requiring current knowledge of the status of unmet demand at all times, rather 
than just at the snap-shot taken every three years. However, the three-year 
survey horizon has become generally accepted given the advice of the BPG 
and most locations that review regularly do within that timescale. 

The DfT asked in writing in 2004 for all licensing authorities with quantity 
restrictions to review them, publish their justification by March 2005, and then 
review at least every three years since then. In due course, this led to a 
summary of the government guidance which was last updated in England and 
Wales in 2010 (but more recently in Scotland). 

Page 44



 

 

6 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The BPG in 2010 also provided additional suggestions of how these surveys 
should be undertaken, albeit in general but fairly extensive terms. A key 
encouragement within the BPG is that “an interval of three years is commonly 
regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys”. BPG suggests 
key points in consideration are passenger waiting times at ranks, for street 
hailings and telephone bookings, latent and peaked demand, wide consultation 
and publication of “all the evidence gathered”.  

Unmet Demand Case History 
In respect to case law impinging on unmet demand, the two most recent cases 
were in 1987 and 2002. The first case (R v Great Yarmouth) concluded 
authorities must consider the view of significant unmet demand as a whole, 
not condescending to detailed consideration of the position in every limited 
area, i.e. to consider significance of unmet demand over the area as a whole. 

R v Castle Point considered the issue of latent, or preferably termed, 
suppressed demand consideration. This clarified that this element relates only 
to the element which is measurable. Measurable suppressed demand includes 
inappropriately met demand (taken by private hire vehicles in situations legally 
hackney carriage opportunities) or those forced to use less satisfactory 
methods to get home (principally walking, i.e. those observed to walk away 
from rank locations).  

2019 saw three challenges with respect to surveys of unmet demand. All three 
found in favour of the current methodology being undertaken. A key focus was 
the need for a robust and up to date independent survey report being available.  

In one case it was made clear the current guidance is based on the 2010 BPG, 
which supercedes previous notes and DfT advice, whilst in another case having 
a valid survey meant those challenging had no case for their proposed 
challenge, and in the final case an authority was clearly told they could not 
rely on a very old survey which itself could not be produced. In the end a fresh 
survey was undertaken, finding no unmet demand, but undertaken on the 
established standards only. 

In general, industry standards suggest (but specifically do not mandate in any 
way) that the determination of conclusions about significance of unmet 
demand should take into account the practicability of improving the standard 
of service through the increase of supply of vehicles.  

It is also important to have consistent treatment of authorities as well as for 
the same authority over time, although apart from the general guidance of the 
BPG there is no clear stipulations as to what this means in reality, and certainly 
no mandatory nor significant court guidance in this regard. 

Page 45



 

 

7 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The 2010 Best Practice Guidance stated “Most local licensing authorities do not 
impose quantity restrictions; the Department regards that as best practice.” 
This is restated in the currently draft new Best Practice Guidance. 

This new draft Best Practice Guidance also adds para 9.3 quoting “The 
Competition and Markets Authority was clear in its 2017 guidance “Regulation 
of taxis and private hire vehicles: understanding the impact of competition” 
that “Quantity restrictions are not necessary to ensure the safety of 
passengers, or to ensure that fares are reasonable.”  

To summarise, the Department for Transport Best Practice Guidance only 
references ‘quantity restrictions’ and that not imposing them is regarded by 
the Department as ‘best practice’. There are only minor changes proposed to 
this in the new BPG. 
 
Cross Border and Sub Contracting Implications 
Recent legislation needing clarification has some operators believing they can 
use vehicles from any authority as long as they are legally licensed as private 
hire. At first, under the ‘Stockton’ case, this was hackney carriages operating 
as private hire in other areas (cross-border hiring). More recently, under the 
Deregulation Act, private hire companies are able to subcontract bookings to 
other companies in other areas if they are unable to fulfil their booking, but 
the interpretation of this has become quite wide. 

The ‘triple lock’ licensing rule has also become accepted. A vehicle, driver and 
operator must all be under the same licensing authority to provide full 
protection to the passenger. However, it is also accepted that a customer can 
call any private hire company anywhere to provide their transport although 
many would not realise that if there was an issue it would be hard for a local 
authority to follow this up unless the triple lock was in place by the vehicle 
used and was for the area the customer contacted licensing. 

Further, introduction of recent methods of obtaining vehicles, principally using 
‘apps’ on mobile phones have also led to confusion as to how ‘apps’ usage sits 
with present legislation.  

All these matters can impact on hackney carriage services, their usage, and 
therefore on unmet demand and its significance. 

During September 2018 the All-Party Parliamentary Group on taxis produced 
its long-awaited Final Report. There was a generally accepted call for revision 
to taxi licensing legislation and practice, including encouragement for local 
authorities to move towards some of the practical suggestions made within the 
Report. The Government has broadly supported the recommendations of this 
Task and Finish Group. 

Page 46



 

 

8 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Despite some opposition from members of the group, the right to retain limits 
on hackney carriage vehicle numbers was supported, with many also 
supporting adding a tool which would allow private hire numbers to be limited 
where appropriate, given reasonable explanation of the expected public 
interest gains. This latter option is now being taken forward in Scotland, with 
two studies published and the Scottish Government preparing guidance, 
although the Government response did not support this option. 

As already stated, other groups have provided comments giving their views 
about licensing matters but the upshot remains no change in legislation from 
that already stated above. The Scottish Government are moving forward in 
terms of their application of the potential limiting of private hire vehicle 
numbers but this is specific to Scottish law and not presently relevant to the 
English licensing authorities. 

The “Protecting Users Statutory Guidance” (now the “Statutory Taxi and 
Private Hire Vehicle Standards” (STPHVS) was issued in July 2020 for 
application and advice of such application to DfT by the end of January 2021. 
Whilst again the taking forward of the wider BPG review is mentioned in terms 
of a further consultation, exact times for this nor the likely implementation 
date for this are not given. The April 2010 BPG therefore remains valid for our 
review. 

For completeness, STPHVS seems to require by the end of January 2021 
(subject to the continued impact on time resources of the COVID-19 pandemic) 
the following: 

- Making publicly available a cohesive taxi licensing policy document 
- Clearly documented ways the licensing authority will share information 

between relevant stakeholders 
- Provision of a robust system for recording complaints that is clearly 

made known to passengers 
- Sufficient training for those making decisions about licence issue 
- Clear assessment of option of mandating CCTV in vehicles 
- Specific requirements for private hire company records  

Coronavirus 
The serious Covid-19 virus took hold in the UK during March 2020. Whilst life 
carried on almost as normal until mid-March of the same year, formal lockdown 
was applied from Tuesday 24th March 2020 until 24th February 2022 when final 
restrictions were removed. Significant reductions in movement had begun to 
bite from the previous week. The last dates in 2020 when on-street and rank 
surveys occurred in other areas were effectively Sunday 16th March 2020. Up 
to that point regular review on the three-year timetable had begun to be much 
more widely accepted. 

Page 47



 

 

9 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The licensed vehicle trade was one of a few industries permitted to continue 
to operate throughout the pandemic and various lockdowns, albeit in a range 
of different ways due to reduced demand.   

The lockdown began to be eased on 13th May 2020 in some sectors, with people 
encouraged to return to work if they were not able to work from home. 
Restrictions on outdoor exercise, golf courses, tennis courses and socialising 
at distance, with restart of construction also allowed. From 15th June 2020, 
bars, restaurants and hairdressers were allowed to return to a ‘new normal’. 
The next wave of easement occurred on 4th July 2020. 

However, a range of different re-restrictions were applied in various locations 
as cases began to rise again. Schools were re-opened in September, but a new 
‘rule of six’ was introduced shortly after reducing the ability of people to 
socialise as rates of infection rose again, together with a 22:00 hours close 
time for all hospitality venues. In general, new restrictions tended to be 
introduced with a few days lead in but this ended with a new lockdown from 
Thursday 5th November2020 ending on Wednesday 2nd December 2020 that 
year. 

After that, new Tiers were introduced (to try to minimise restrictions in parts 
of the country where the virus was less dominant) and then again another 
national lockdown was applied from early January 2021 but with the start of 
vaccinations providing some hope of an eventual overcoming of the impacts of 
the virus. 

As levels of vaccination increased and infection / hospitalisations and deaths 
reduced, a new road out of lockdown was announced and implemented. The 
final stage, removal of most English restrictions, was delayed about a month 
but was finally instigated towards the end of July 2021. The Government focus 
has since then been on ‘coping with the virus’ although as Winter 2021 
progressed infection levels tended to move upwards.  

Later in Winter 2021 appearance of a new variant led to further concern and 
encouragement to partake in a booster vaccination programme as well as 
taking further care about interaction. Mask wearing was returned to being a 
legal requirement at the start of December 2021 in many, but not all of the 
previous circumstances. The situation around Christmas 2021 was very tense. 
Working from home was reinstated towards the end of 2021. 

 

 

 

Page 48



 

 

10 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Early 2022 saw more confidence that the ‘omicron wave’ could be survived 
although in early January 2022 there was pressure on many industries arising 
from staff isolating. Various methods were being considered to minimise the 
impact of need to self-isolate. On 24th February 2022 all legal restrictions in 
England were removed with the focus clearly moving to ‘living with the virus’ 
although unintended consequences of rising fuel and other prices from the 
reopening of the economy were also exacerbated by the current issue of the 
Ukraine occupation.  

During Autumn 2022 there was a high level of COVID infection but the link 
between infection and serious illness appeared to have been broken, although 
the need to keep levels of immunity to severe disease may well lead to further 
immunisation as time proceeds. Another booster injection was starting to be 
rolled out as part of the vaccination strategy. 

Overall, the pandemic led to a significant period of lack of business for both 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, in various ways as the pandemic 
developed. Some of the impacts of this are discussed in public and driver 
attitude chapters below, as well as review of impact on demand in the rank 
chapter. More significant was the reappraisal of many as to their involvement 
with the taxi industry, and the general job market churn that was instigated 
not just in the taxi arena. In many areas there is clear knowledge that many 
who planned to retire brought that date forward whilst others found that the 
certainty of income from delivery driving was preferable to the vagaries of taxi 
passenger demand.  

Various contract work appears to have remained a constant during the 
pandemic however (school transport, health transport and so on). However, 
airports were particularly badly hit resulting in many private hire vehicles being 
unusable, whilst rail patronage remains reduced with patterns of travel 
strongly revised towards off-peak travel. 

Yet others found the shortage of private hire drivers meant more requirement 
on hackney carriages in the daytime, in turn meaning they could earn more in 
the week, and not be reliant on servicing less-preferable customers in the early 
hours of Saturday and Sunday morning.  

A further issue we have observed is that even pubs, restaurants and night 
venues are now reducing their opening hours or days in reaction to rising costs 
and staff shortages. This can lead to taxi demand in an area becoming peaky 
or peakier with such change. This means spikes in passenger demand for 
licensed vehicles, which is always harder to meet in a timely manner for a 
given level of vehicles particularly in the later and night-time economy hours?  

Page 49



 

 

11 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Further, the impacts of the developing war in Ukraine and other economic 
changes partly arising from Brexit is again putting pressure on costs of 
providing licensed vehicle services.  Rising fuel prices have also added to the 
issues, albeit counter-balanced with an increase in fare charges for some 
authorities. A further knock-on has been change to how those involved in the 
trade interact with their licensing authorities, with most face-to-face contact 
effectively removed.  

The days when the main aim of a demand survey was checking if passenger 
demand had changed to see if supply remained sufficient have now been 
replaced by a much wider research need to identify both demand and supply 
side changes (such as drivers working shorter weeks, more time by drivers 
undertaking contracts or diversifying as delivery drivers, changed passenger 
use of ranks and locations arising from matters such as reduced rail travel, 
etc).  

Even long-standing areas with limited hackney carriage vehicle numbers have 
been impacted by having spare hackney carriage vehicle licences available for 
the first time in decades. However, our experience suggests that even spare 
plates and reduced demand can still result in unmet demand increasing as a 
result of change in the range of elements that need to balance to provide better 
public service. 

Conclusions to this Chapter 
In conclusion, the present legislation in England and Wales sees public fare-
paying passenger carrying vehicles firstly split by passenger capacity. All 
vehicles able to carry nine or more passengers are dealt with under national 
public service vehicle licensing. Local licensing authorities only have 
jurisdiction over vehicles carrying eight or less passengers. Further, the 
jurisdiction focusses on the vehicles, drivers and operators but rarely extends 
to the physical infrastructure these use, principally ranks. 

The vehicles are split between hackney carriages which are alone able to wait 
at ranks or pick up people in the streets without a booking, and private hire 
who can only be used with a booking made through an operator. If any 
passenger uses a private hire vehicle without such a properly made booking, 
they are not generally considered to be insured for their journey. 

  

Page 50



 

 

12 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

  

Page 51



 

 

13 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

2 Local background and context 
Key dates for this survey of demand for hackney carriages for Lancaster City 
Council are: 

- appointed Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA) on 8 
November 2022 

- in accordance with our proposal of November 2022  
- as confirmed during the inception meeting for the survey held by 

telephone on 14 November 2022 
- this survey was carried out between November 2022 and February 2023 
- On street pedestrian survey work occurred in early November 2022 

(split between Wednesday, Thursday, Friday and Saturday) 
- the video rank observations occurred in mid-November 2019  
- Licensed vehicle driver opinions and operating practices were canvassed 

using an electronically available and posted out survey during November 
2022 for return by mid-January 2023 (with some time extension and 
chasing undertaken) 

- Key stakeholders were consulted throughout the period of the survey  
- A draft of this Final Report was reviewed by the client and reported to 

the appropriate Council committee following acceptance by the client. 

Lancaster City Council is one of twelve districts within the higher tier 
Lancashire County authority, with two further authorities in the formerly larger 
area that are now unitaries. Both those two authorities, plus seven further 
authorities within Lancashire, retain limits on vehicle numbers and review this 
regularly although there is one further district that retains the limit but has not 
recently reviewed this formally. This current survey is occurring at the same 
time as that for five other Lancashire authorities (all at different stages of 
completion). 

The authority has a current population of 142,900 from the initial results of 
the 2021 census (a very similar number to the estimated population for 2019 
at the time of that survey).  

The area has four main population centres, Lancaster, Morecambe, Heysham 
and Carnforth. Most of the population is in the first two locations, with about 
a third of population in Carnforth and the rural parts of the council area. The 
area lies just off the principal M6 route between the Midlands, North West and 
Scotland, and has the only station on the West Coast main line within the area 
at Lancaster. Both highway and public transport link Morecambe, Heysham 
and Carnforth using secondary routes, albeit routes now included in the 
considerations of the ‘Northern Powerhouse’. 

Highway and transport powers are mainly at the higher tier County authority 
level. Until 2000, ranks were under the control of the local authority, but in 

Page 52



 

 

14 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

2000 the County took these powers over such that any rank is now provided 
by and maintained by the County. However, the County works in conjunction 
with the district on establishing ranks as part of an overall parking strategy or 
review, but the local district is also able to provide taxi bays under their special 
provisions which allow such to be provided under local authority auspices with 
consent from the County. Typical options use bays with limited daytime waiting 
for ranks at night, very helpful when new night venues open and need urgent 
action on rank provision. 

A further matter which impacts on the hackney carriage licensing for the area 
is that the school and social services transport function is also undertaken at 
County level, providing contracts to both the hackney carriage and private hire 
industry of the area, some of which go beyond the district boundary, and some 
of which can be provided cross-county rather than at district level. This can 
provide places where local policy ends up superseded by County policy, further 
discussion of which follows. 

For Lancaster the Local Plan evidence base stems from the Local Transport 
Plan 2011 to 2021 which established the overarching strategy for the county. 
This remains a statutory document but transport policy has changed since that 
time. It led to the Lancaster Highway and Transport Masterplan approved in 
October 2016. The key aims of the Masterplan are improving access from the 
area to the M6. An upgraded M6 junction to the north of the City sought to 
provide better access to the University by relieving pressure on the Lancaster 
central gyratory. In 2018 the latest Local Plan document was published 
covering 2011-2031 and the fourth LTP is being developed in line with that 
structure and narrative.  

Local Plan Topic Paper 3 ‘Strategic Transport Consideration of Alternative Policy 
Approaches’ (May 2021) considers alternative options considered in the 
Climate Emergency Local Plan Review. Its focus is on encouraging increased 
sustainable transport usage. 

With reference to licensed vehicles, the principal mention across the transport 
policy inputs is their use as part of the third hierarchy of choice after ultra-low 
emission buses and other buses. The suggestion is to seek ultra-low emission 
licensed vehicles with policies seeking to favour them over other non low-
emission vehicles.  

The Local Transport Plan encourages taxi operators to work with transport 
authorities to ensure staff respect the needs of all travellers. However, being 
a strategic and County-led document, the focus is less on local taxi operating 
principles and more on higher level national strategy. Transport interchanges 
are likewise seen to be important, but again the higher-level focus leaves them 
not mentioning specifics of local taxi operation. 

Page 53



 

 

15 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Lancaster City Council has chosen to utilize its power to limit hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers, and as far as we are aware has done so since at least 1994. 
The authority has held very regular reviews of this limit and its level (see 
further below). This resulted in plate issues of five in both 1996 and 2001 and 
four in 2005, all of which were required to be wheel chair accessible style and 
which must remain in this style. Current saloon owners have no such 
requirement and can choose to use WAV style or otherwise, and revert to 
saloon if they so wish. 

By drawing together published statistics from both the Department for 
Transport (D) and the National Private Hire Association (N), supplemented by 
private information from the licensing authority records (C), recent trends in 
vehicle, driver and operator numbers can be observed. The detailed numbers 
supporting the picture below are provided in Appendix 1. Due to the 
comparative size, the operator figures are shown in the second picture. 

Page 54



 

 

16 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 

Licensing Statistics from 1994 to date 

The graph above shows the two small additions made to hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers around 2000 and 2008 and marginal reductions in the total 
numbers in 2004, 2012 and 2022 (although the latter only represents the fleet 
available at the time of the survey, with one plate not on issue at that time). 
There are now 12% more hackney carriage vehicles than in 1994 but 49% 
more private hire.  

 

95 100 100 105 105 104 104 109 109 109 109 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 107
130

170

200 200

286 286 280
257

280

229 220 221
238

223 220 220 229 238 227

197 187 194

95

230

270

305 305

390 390 389
366

389

338 328 329
346

331 328 328 337 346 335

305 295 301

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Lancaster City licensed vehicles and 
drivers

hcv phv lv total hcd phd dd total d

Page 55



 

 

17 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

However, private hire vehicle numbers, not limited, and directly theoretically 
responsive to market levels of need, saw their maximum growth between 1997 
and their peak in 2005. Since that time, there has been a general trend of 
reducing numbers although they saw 8% growth just before the last survey 
but then declined by 21% (a decline already starting pre-pandemic but 
worsened by it) before finally seeing some growth again from the time of the 
DfT review in March 2022 to the time of the rank survey in November 2022. 

This means the proportion the hackney carriage vehicles are of the fleet has 
dropped from 43% in 1997 to 36% at the current time (was 31% in 2019), 
although this remains a high proportion for an area with long term hackney 
carriage vehicle limits. The local fleets have a number of private hire 
companies for whom hackney carriages regularly work which means the two 
fleets are far from distinct. In this case it appears that many private hire 
vehicles have been supplanted by hackney carriages that also spend a 
significant proportion of their time on private hire operating circuits due to low 
rank demand levels. 

With respect to drivers, there has been a switch towards dual driver licences 
although this transfer is not complete and it appears the level of those retaining 
vehicle type specific licences seems to have stabilised. Although this generally 
led to a reduction in overall apparent driver numbers until 2017 (reflecting the 
removal of duplicate holdings) there was some growth just before the last 
survey although after that decline returned, again with the low point occurring 
at the time of the 2022 DfT data collection, with a slight upturn since. 

In fact the whole trend of the graph at this time is suggesting the low point 
has been reached in driver and vehicle numbers and that an upturn has begun. 

Information is also available from these sources to show how the level of wheel 
chair accessible vehicles (WAV) has varied. It must be noted that in most cases 
the values for the private hire side tend to be much more approximate than 
those on the hackney carriage side, as there is no option to mandate for private 
hire being wheel chair accessible. In some areas, to strengthen the ability of 
the public to differentiate between the two parts of the licensed vehicle trade, 
licensing authorities might not allow any WAV in the private hire fleet at all.  

Page 56



 

 

18 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 

Operator numbers and levels of WAV provision in the fleet 

This graph shows a very similar profile for operator numbers compared to 
overall private hire vehicle numbers. The slight evidence of stability around 
the last survey did not last, and recent information suggests a general decline 
in operator numbers. 

With reference to WAV style vehicles, the number of formal WAV in both fleets 
has remained stable at 15 vehicles each since the 2021 DfT survey. However, 
the private hire level rose from none in 2016 to the current 8% now (a level 
stable over the last 18 months.  

 

 

 

 

18
14

4 4

16 16
19

14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Lancaster City - operators and % WAV in 
fleets

Ops % hcv WAV % phv WAV

Page 57



 

 

19 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Considering the overall level of WAV in the licensed vehicle fleet using the 
March 2022 DfT statistics, Lancaster has around 10% of its total vehicle fleet 
(hackney carriage and private hire) that are WAV style. This is very similar to 
four other authorities with limited hackney carriage vehicle numbers, North 
East Lincolnshire, North Tyneside, Wigan and Mid Sussex (for the last two of 
whom there are recent demand surveys), and eight other authorities without 
limits (including one recently having lost its limit due to becoming part of a 
unitary authority).  

National averages are 40% hcv WAV, 4% phv WAV and a net 13% WAV overall. 
Lancaster is 130th equal out of the 280 English licensing authorities in the all-
vehicle comparison although many of those authorities which are above 
Lancaster in the table are the fully WAV authorities. It should also be pointed 
out that when authorities with 100% WAV hcv and no WAV hcv are removed 
from the total in 2022, 206 authorities remain with an average hcv WAV % of 
22%, private hire 5% and overall 11%, putting the Lancaster 14% 8% and 
10% in a much better light than otherwise. 

Limit review policy 
Lancaster undertakes very regular review of its policy to limit hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers in line with the BPG. The previous surveys were in 2019, 
2016, 2013, 2010, 2007, 2005, 2000 and 1996, giving a very regular and BPG-
compliant level of review of the limitation policy. Comparison of results and 
the latest evaluation are provided in later chapters. Lancaster was also one of 
the authorities fortuitously having undertaken its last survey in advance of the 
pandemic, and therefore able to keep to the recommended three year interval 
precisely. 

Other public transport 
National statistics are published for all 2,629 rail stations in Great Britain, with 
the latest information relating to the year ending March 2019 published in 
January 2020.  

There are seven stations in the Lancaster licensing area. Lancaster is the 
busiest, being 232nd highest (was 282nd in 2019) in terms of total entries and 
exits estimated – some 1,659,362 (2,122,814, 2019) in the latest figures. 
Carnforth is now second busiest, at 1,284th with 151,484, with Morecambe 
(which was second busiest, being 1,308th (was 1418th) in the UK table with 
147,004 (195,956 in 2019). Bare Lane, Silverdale, Heysham Port and 
Wennington follow, with the latter being the smallest and 2,402nd (2,408th) 
with 3,604 (4,768) in the latest year. 

 

 

Page 58



 

 

20 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The pandemic continues to affect rail patronage – Lancaster’s latest totals are 
76% of the level at the peak (which happened to be the period ending March 
2020 immediately ahead of the pandemic).  Comparison of the observed rank 
weekly patronage from our survey to the rail estimates is provided below in 
the rank chapter.   

Page 59



 

 

21 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys) 
As already recorded in Chapter 2, control of provision of on-street ranks in 
Lancaster City Council’s licensing area is under the control of Lancashire 
County Council. They are held within the context of other highway legislation 
across the County with enforcement against abuse by private vehicles also at 
County level. The City, however, has direct powers to ensure the ranks are 
properly used by hackney carriage vehicles and can enforce against abuse of 
them by private hire vehicles. 

There have been no major changes since the last survey with respect to ranks 
and in this respect the background to demand has seen a period of continued 
consolidation since the major changes that occurred between the 2013 and 
2016 surveys.  

Our methodology involves a current review both in advance of submitting our 
proposal to undertake this unmet demand survey and at the study inception 
meeting, together with site visits where considered necessary. This provides a 
valid and appropriate sample of rank coverage which is important to feed the 
numeric evaluation of the level of unmet demand, and its significance (see 
discussion in Chapter 7).  

2022 Observations 
The 2022 rank observations covered a very similar sample to that undertaken 
for the 2019 survey. Two little used ranks were observed by quick-watch 
methods and found to see no hackney carriage usage during the course of our 
survey (Penny Street Lancaster and Tunstall Street Morecambe).  
 
In order of 287 hours of detailed rank observations were therefore included in 
the sample. This provided some 1,660 (3,261 in 2019) passengers leaving in 
1,022 (1,966) hackney carriage departures from ranks across the licensing 
area.  
 
The observations recorded some 6,502 (10,315) different activities at the 
ranks over the survey period. 79% (74%) of these activities were vehicles 
arriving or departing (with or without passengers). The remainder were 
passengers arriving, walking away, or a range of other general comments 
about activities noted affecting the rank such as nearby demand generators 
closing or opening, etc.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 

 

22 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Of all the vehicles observed at the ranks, 67% (73% last time) were hackney 
carriage arrivals and departures. A further 1.2% (14% last time) were private 
hire vehicles, 285 (11%) private cars, 3.6% (1.3%) goods vehicles, and 0.4% 
(0.1%) emergency vehicles. In terms of all vehicle activity levels, the most 
activity, some 27% (36%) occurred at or near the North Road, Diggles rank. 
22% were at the bus station (15% last time). 18% each were at Common 
Garden St and Market St (10% and 15% respectively in 2019). 12% (20%) of 
vehicle movements were at the station. 2% were at Marine Road Central in 
Morecambe, a rank now hardly used by hackney carriages. 
 
With respect to issues with ranks being used by private cars, Marine Road 
Central remained the worst (and was actually much worse) with 83% of all 
movements being private cars (61% last time). However, the observation of 
hackney carriages moving other vehicles on observed last time has now ceased 
with very few using this location.  
 
Market Street Morecambe saw 50% (35%) private cars, principally arising 
from people needing to pick up or set down near to the shopping centre 
entrance, but also again at times the rank was not in use. The next highest 
issue was 31% at North Road, Diggles. The situation here has not improved 
with the extension of the rank, and abuse by goods vehicles also continues 
there. 30% (14%) of vehicles at Common Garden Street were private cars. 
These figures confirm that Lancaster is suffering as many other authorities 
nationally from cars, having assumed ranks were a good place to park when 
less hackney carriages were active during the pandemic, have continued to 
assume this parking is now legitimate, and is a clear issue of public safety that 
needs to be addressed.  
 
Overall rank usage estimates 
The sample of rank hours observed was used to produce an estimate of the 
typical level of patronage at each rank. The table below shows the resulting 
average weekly estimates of rank usage by passengers, and compares this to 
results available from previous surveys. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

 

23 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Rank 2022 2019 2016 2013 2010 
Lancaster Station 

(private) 
1,089 
(34%) 

2,539  
(40%) 

1,687  
(27%) 

1,538  
(20%) 

2,113  
(20%) 

North Road, 
Diggles 

944 (30%) 1,910 (30%) 1,848 (29%) 3,482 (47%) 
332 (3%) 

Damside Bus 
Station 

645 (20%) 1,046 (16%) 1,791 (28%) Closed 
5,161 (48.5%) 

(total of two 
above) 

(1,589) (2,956) (3,639) (3,482) 
(5,493) 

Market St/feeder, 
Morecambe 

291 (9%) 545 (9%) 600 (9%) 1,110 (15%) 
1,668 (16%) 

Common Gdn and 
Brock St 

220 (7%) 
286 (5%) 50 (1%) 209 (3%) Not avail 

Marine Road, 
Morecambe  

7 (0.0%) 11 (0.0%) 280 (4%) 284 (4%) 
512 (4%) 

North Road, Toast Club gone Club gone Club gone 478 (6%) 684 (7%) 
Tunstall Street, 

Morecambe 
Unused 4 (0.0%) 29 (0.0%) Not there 

Not there 

Penny St KFC Unused 2 (0.0%) 25 (0.0%) 93 (1%) 42 (0.5%) 
Sun Hotel Gone Gone 20 (0.0%) 204 (3%) Not in place 

Dalton Square Gone Gone Gone 107 (1%) Not in place 

Gage St 
Not 

observed 
Not observed Not observed Not observed 

0 (0%) 

Total 3,195 6,343 6,330 7,505 10,512 
Difference from 
previous survey 

-50% 
Same -16% -29% n/a 

Difference from 
2010 

-70% -40% -40% 
n/a n/a 

 
The headline from the above table is that total weekly estimated demand for 
the service of hackney carriages from ranks in the Lancaster licensing area has 
halved since the last survey. This estimated level is some 70% less than the 
peak value observed in 2010. Whilst there had been decline from 2010 through 
the next two surveys, the level of demand between the 2016 and 2019 surveys 
had remained stable giving signs of hope that the rank stability had led to 
passenger stability. The pandemic – or other factors – have clearly seen 
hackney carriage rank demand reduce significantly. 
 
The table shows that the highest passenger volumes in 2022 estimated remain 
those at the private Lancaster Station rank. This took some 34% (was 40%) 
of the total estimated passenger numbers observed. The North Road, Diggles 
rank saw a remarkably similar 30% of patronage to the previous survey 
followed by 20% (16%) (an increased share) at the Damside Bus Station rank 

Page 62



 

 

24 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

in Lancaster. The Market Street rank in Morecambe saw 9% of passengers – 
again the same share as in 2019 - with Common Garden Street seeing 7% - 
again an increase from the 5% of 2019. Marine Road, Morecambe did see a 
very small (and smaller than 2019) level of usage, but for this survey Tunstall 
Street Morecambe and Penny Street, Lancaster were unused during our survey 
period. 
 
 
The changes in share terms have to be tempered by the fact of a halving of 
overall total estimated demand. However, this does mask some differences as 
already noted above. Worst hit was the station rank with 57% reduction in 
flows. Passenger flows through the station were 24% down for the latest 
estimates compared to the peak flow there which ironically was just ahead of 
the pandemic suggesting the station hackney carriage losses exceed the 
impact from the pandemic. The current station rank estimates were compared 
to the estimated total exits from the station from national statistics. This 
comparison suggests that 6.6% of all passengers leaving Lancaster station do 
so in a hackney carriage vehicle from the rank. This will be an underestimate 
of total licensed vehicle patronage as only hackney carriage-based rank usage 
was recorded and it is known many will also book a private hire vehicle to leave 
the station. 
 
Against national trends, the relatively lightly used Common Garden Street rank 
fared best only seeing a 23% overall estimated reduction, followed by Damside 
Bus Station with just 38%. Market Street Morecambe saw 47% reduction 
whilst North Road, Diggles was just marginally more than the average 
reduction at 51%.  
 
Detailed rank usage by location and time 
The graph below provides the profile of total passenger demand across all 
ranks operating in Lancaster over the survey period. For this survey the station 
rank was only observed on Friday and Saturday so the Thursday flows are 
underestimated. This was done given that the station rank requires a 
supplementary permit and is on private land and is therefore not as relevant 
to estimates of unmet demand. 
 

Page 63



 

 

25 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
 
The graph shows that Thursday flows tend to be significantly lower than Friday, 
with flows generally peaking during the morning and then decreasing (as in 
2019), with very little overnight demand. Friday has higher flows and a 
morning peak and a larger late-night peak, which for this survey was the actual 
peak of some 90 passengers in the 02:00 hour in the early hours of Saturday. 
Saturday flows begin lower, with a pre-lunch peak, further growth to an early 
evening peak, and then final growth to the overall peak flow of some 89 
passengers in the 01:00 hour in the early hours of Sunday. The current peak 
flow is significantly less than the 161 observed in the early hours of Sunday in 
the last survey, and notably for this survey there are no hours at all with flows 
greater than 90 passengers in total across the area. 
 
Overall, however, the general profile of passenger demand is very similar in 
shape to the previous survey, but just with further reduced levels of total 
passengers.  
 
Interestingly in both peak hours the flow is combined between North Road and 
one other rank (Common Garden St on the Saturday early hours and the Bus 
Station on the Sunday early hours) whilst North Road flow peaks are an hour 
later early Saturday morning and two hours later in the early hours of Sunday.  
 
Inspection of the information feeding this graph shows the peak flow is some 
3.7 (was 3.4, i.e. now peakier) times the average flow per hour which is just 
24 (47) passengers. The profile sees three hours (23:00 Thursday, 03:00 
Friday and 08:00 Saturday) (compared to one hour, 05:00 on Friday morning 
last time) with no passengers anywhere in the licensing area at ranks, with 
every other observed hour having at least one passenger using a rank 
somewhere in the area. 

0

10
20

30
40

50

60
70

80
90

100

1012 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 5

Thu Fri Sat Sun

Total flows all ranks

Page 64



 

 

26 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
For this survey, average Thursday flows are just seven passengers (although 
this did exclude any observations at the station, so is an underestimate), 
Fridays 32 and Saturdays 31, with as already noted, the overall of 24 for the 
full survey period. It must be remembered that the pan-survey average 
occupancy is 1.6 passengers per vehicle so the actual number of hires 
represented by these figures is even lower. 
 
The graph below presents passenger flows by hour for each of the separate 
ranks over the survey period. 
 

 
 
The graph shows the extreme and peaky demand at the North Road, Diggles 
rank in Lancaster. This is as it was in the previous survey apart from the 
suppressed overall total levels. This rank, although available for 24-hours, only 
tends to operate in evenings and into the early hours but is used on every 
night, but much more so on Friday into Saturday and even more from Saturday 
into Sunday. On both Friday and Saturday nights this is very clearly the busiest 
rank and the only location with more than 25 (60 last time) passengers in any 
hour in the area. The facts above apply equally to the previous and this survey 
apart from the reduced numbers. 
 
For this survey, the level of flows on Thursday evening is almost zero, with the 
peak hour being the midnight hour with just six passengers. This is a major 
change from the previous survey where Thursday evening did see moderate 
flow levels. 

0
20
40
60
80

100

1012151821 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 5

Thu

Fri

Sat

Sun

Total passengers per day by rank Lancaster 2022

Marine Rd Central Morecambe Common Garden St Market St Morecambe

Lancaster Railway Station Private Bus Station North Road, Diggles

Page 65



 

 

27 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
Operation of the bus station rank in Lancaster is now all day and into the early 
hours (last time it tended to be daytime only). Whilst Thursday sees the main 
peak in the late morning, there are late evening peaks on both Friday and 
Saturday. The general level of demand at that location is generally lower on 
Saturdays, but with a higher peak (all statements true both for the previous 
survey and this survey). 
 
Market Street in Morecambe remains very tied to the operating hours of the 
nearby shopping centre, servicing this demand only. Common Garden Street 
in Lancaster is similar to this on the Thursday but does see later and more 
extended operating hours on the Friday and Saturday, albeit at lower levels. 
For this survey, the focus at Common Garden Street is more towards Friday-
Saturday than Saturday-Sunday.  
 
Marine Road Central Morecambe for this survey only saw a single passenger in 
each of the three nights, at different times, and is effectively no longer really 
used. 
 
Unmet demand – surveyed hours with observed unmet demand 
Each hour of rank data was sorted to identify the highest level of average 
passenger delay. Of the 287 hours of data included in our sample, 8% (6% in 
last survey) had average hourly passenger delay values of a minute or more, 
with a further 10% (9% last time) with values of 59 seconds or less. These 
figures include all ranks including the private station rank. These values are 
only marginally worse than the previous survey, but high given the fact that 
passenger flows have halved, which you might expect would lead to 
significantly reduced levels of unmet demand. 
 
Considering passengers in total, 8.1% (9.4% last time) actually experienced a 
wait of a minute or more. This can be broken down into 0.7% (0.4%) of 
passengers who waited for 11 minutes or more, 1.5% (2%) who waited 
between six and 10 minutes, and 5.9% (7%) that waited between one and five 
minutes.  
 
The longest average passenger wait experienced was just under 22.5 minutes 
– higher than the 16 minutes from the last survey. This wait also produced the 
second highest average passenger delay (APD) in any hour, and one of only 
two APD over ten minutes. This particular instance occurred at a time of 
generally low demand, known as ‘thin’ demand which is notoriously hard to 
service well at the Station rank. The other high waiting time of just under 16 
minutes had a similar APD and was again a very quiet hour at Common Garden 
Street.  

Page 66



 

 

28 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
There were four examples where the APD was between five and 6.5 minutes 
(with none others longer than that other than the two above). Two were at 
Lancaster station on Friday late afternoons and two at the bus station. One of 
these had a passenger delay of just under 22 minutes, and another a delay to 
one passenger of just under 19 minutes. 
 
 
All three hours that saw delay on the Thursday were at the Lancaster Bus 
Station (Damside) rank, in three consecutive hours in the afternoon (14:00 to 
16:00). Friday saw 20 instances of non-zero APD and Saturday 24, with four 
on the Sunday. The focus of Friday waiting were the hours between 12:00 and 
18:00 with only four of the hours outside that period. Four different locations 
saw passenger waiting in the 13:00 hour including the Morecambe active rank. 
Saturday waiting focussed on 10:00 to 13:00 again including the Morecambe 
rank and examples at all the active Lancaster ranks.  
 
The busiest hour, 02:00 Saturday morning, did see passengers wait but the 
busiest rank only saw one second APD, and the other rank active at that time 
saw 34 seconds delay. The midnight Saturday secondary peak hour saw 49 
seconds delay at North Road, Diggles, rank. These statistics suggest the fleet 
is able to cope with peak demands, but has bigger issues ensuring sufficient 
vehicles at relatively quieter times. 
 
There were no occurrences of persistent passenger queues forming for lengthy 
periods, at any locations. 
 
The delay data was inspected by day and hour to see if there was any 
systematic shortage of hackney carriage vehicles. The profile suggested no 
particular hours with notable shortages but also showed most delay tended to 
occur more with lower flows than higher. There were very few significant 
delays observed in the hours with highest flows – proving there are sufficient 
vehicles to meet high levels of demand, but also demonstrating that the 
potential focus of many hackney carriages on peaks or on phone demand at 
lower demand times can impact rank service levels. Further discussion of this 
occurs in the chapter considering significance of observed unmet demand. This 
is similar to the results in the previous survey, however again it must be 
remembered demand has halved yet performance appears generally similar. 
 
Unmet demand – persons walking away from ranks 
The number of people arriving at ranks and then walking away without using 
a hackney carriage or other vehicles was noted. This occurred most at the 
Diggles location, with 43 (63 last survey) different occasions recorded, none 

Page 67



 

 

29 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

with more than two people walking away (last time there were some with up 
to five people in the group). There were other walk-aways noted at Lancaster 
Bus Station, Lancaster Railway Station, Lancaster Common Garden Street, 
Marine Road Central Morecambe and Morecambe Market Street, but none were 
significant (the maximum was a total of seven people in all at Lancaster 
station). 
 
 
Plate observations 
Observations were undertaken on the Thursday and Saturday of the rank 
observations to identify the licensed vehicles operating at the time of what was 
expected to be the busiest day of the survey. An hour was observed at the 
Market Street rank and a further hour and a half at the Marine Road Central 
rank both in Morecambe on each day. Observations were undertaken for all 
licensed vehicles passing by the Bus Station rank in Lancaster for an hour-and-
a-half sessions and a 2-hour session, one early afternoon and one over 
midnight. A total of 194 (247 last time) vehicle movements were observed.  
 
All observations were reviewed to identify current Lancaster licensed hackney 
carriages and private hire vehicles from those observed, using the list of 
vehicles licensed by the council at the time of the survey. Three records were 
incomplete and a further 14 (10 last time) were not current local licensed 
vehicles. The remaining records were then evaluated to understand the activity 
level of the fleet observed. It did prove relatively difficult to differentiate 
private hire and hackney carriage during the observations undertaken. 

110 (146 last time) different hackney carriage movements were observed. 
These accounted for 51% (54% last time) of the plates on issue at the time of 
the survey. The observations at Morecambe Market Street accounted for 4% 
(5% Saturday last time) of the fleet on both days whilst those at Marine Road 
Central later saw 1% on the Thursday and 7% (6% last time) of the fleet on 
the Saturday.  

In Lancaster, the afternoon observations saw 9% Thursday and 20% Saturday 
(12% last time) of the fleet with 7% Thursday and 21% Saturday (39% last 
time) in the over-midnight observations. 

Whilst the overall reduction in level of observed plates is only marginally 
reduced (even allowing for adding an extra day this time), the pattern in 
Lancaster suggests more vehicles active in the daytime and less at night, a 
national pattern observed whereby less preferable times of working see less 
activity, with drivers able to earn sufficient during preferred working hours.  

21% of the fleet was seen on the Thursday rising to 44% on the Saturday with 
the highest proportions seen in Lancaster as might be expected.  

Page 68



 

 

30 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

For Market Street, Morecambe four different plates were seen on each day 
observed. However, just two plates were observed on both days, with the other 
two comprising different plates meaning a total of six different plates were 
observed there. Two of these were also observed at Lancaster locations. None 
of the seven plates seen near the Marine Road Central rank were seen at any 
other location over the two survey days. However the single plate seen on the 
Thursday near there was also observed two days later in Lancaster. 

Comparing the afternoon and night information on the Thursday for Lancaster 
found 9% of plates in the daytime sample and 7% in the late evening. None 
were seen in both periods. On the Saturday, the afternoon sample saw 20% 
of plates but the late night one marginally more at 21%. Just five – around a 
quarter – were seen in both samples.  

Of all the hackney carriage plates seen, 45% were seen just once. 33% were 
seen twice, 9% three times, 2% four times and 11% five times.  

67 different private hire vehicle movements were noted. Some were seen at 
Marine Road Central but the bulk were seen in central Lancaster.  

Disability use of ranks 
Four people were observed during the course of the survey accessing hackney 
carriages at ranks in wheel chairs – the same number as in the last survey. 
However, the spread was different with two at Damside Bus Station rank and 
two at Market Street, Morecambe. In the previous survey, three of these were 
at the railway station rank in Lancaster (none seen there this time) with one 
at Morecambe Market Street. 

A further 28 (44 last time) people were observed at ranks needing assistance 
into vehicles, often having visual disabilities such as walking with a stick. 20 
(31) of these were at Market Street, Morecambe, three (seven) at Lancaster 
Bus Station, 2 (4) at Lancaster Common Garden Street, and one (two) at 
Diggles, Lancaster.  

Page 69



 

 

31 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

4 General public views 
It is very important that the views of people within the area are obtained about 
the service provided by hackney carriage and private hire. A key element which 
these surveys seek to discover is specifically if people have given up waiting 
for hackney carriages at ranks (the most readily available measure of latent 
demand). However, the opportunity is also taken with these surveys to identify 
the overall usage and views of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles 
within the study area, and to give chance for people to identify current issues 
and factors which may encourage them to use licensed vehicles more. 

Such surveys can also be key in identifying variation of demand for licensed 
vehicles across an area, particularly if there are significant areas of potential 
demand without ranks, albeit in the context that many areas do not have 
places apart from their central area with sufficient demand to justify hackney 
carriages waiting at ranks.  

These surveys tend to be undertaken during the daytime period when more 
people are available, and when survey staff safety can be guaranteed. Further, 
interviews with groups of people or with those affected by alcohol consumption 
may not necessarily provide accurate responses, despite the potential value in 
speaking with people more likely to use hackney carriages at times of higher 
demand and then more likely unmet demand. Where possible, extension of 
interviews to the early evening may capture some of this group, as well as 
some studies where careful choice of night samples can be undertaken. 

Our basic methodology requires a sample size of at least 200 to ensure stable 
responses. Trained and experienced interviewers are also important as this 
ensures respondents are guided through the questions carefully and 
consistently. A minimum sample of 50 interviews is generally possible by a 
trained interviewer in a day meaning that sample sizes are best incremented 
by 50, usually if there is targeting of a specific area or group (e.g. of students, 
or a sub-centre), although conclusions from these separate samples can only 
be indicative taken alone. For some authorities with multiple centres this can 
imply value in using a higher sample size, such as 250 if there are two large 
and one moderate sized centre. 

It is normal practice to compare the resulting gender and age structure to the 
latest available local and national census proportions to identify if the sample 
has become biased in any way. 

 

 

Page 70



 

 

32 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

More recently, general public views have been enlisted from the use of council 
citizens’ panels although the issue with these is that return numbers cannot 
be guaranteed. The other issue is that the structure of the sample responding 
cannot be guaranteed either, and it is also true that those on the panel have 
chosen to be there such that they may tend to be people willing to have 
stronger opinions than the general public randomly approached. 

Finally, some recent surveys have placed an electronic copy of the 
questionnaire on their web site to allow interested persons to respond, 
although again there needs to be an element of care with such results as 
people choosing to take part may have a vested interest. This can be improved 
by using paid advertising for such questionnaires, but it does still restrict 
responses to those with an interest, rather than the entirely random selection 
applied when on-street. 

This survey considers the full Lancaster licensing area. However, on street 
interviews were undertaken only in the main two centres taking on board the 
need to obtain reasonable sample numbers within fair timescales. A total of 90 
(98 last time) interviews were obtained in Lancaster and 89 (94) in 
Morecambe, a robust sample for the purposes of this data collection exercise.  

The proportions of key population statistics were compared to the estimates 
for the area from the latest 2021 estimates from the new 2021 census. This 
time the overall responses saw 5% more female respondents than the census 
might otherwise suggest; with a worse imbalance in Morecambe (8.5 % more). 
A similar pattern applied in the previous survey although the Lancaster sample 
was much closer last time. 

For this survey overall, the under 30’s group was under-represented by 5% - 
similar for both separate areas with the mid and upper age groups both over-
represented by equal amounts (about 2.4% each). For Morecambe the mid 
group was also well-matched with the over-representation entirely for the 
upper group; whilst the reverse was true for Lancaster with the upper group 
there well-matched. Compared to the previous survey, this profile is much 
better balanced. 

All of those interviewed in Morecambe claimed to be from the area whilst just 
one Lancaster interviewee said they were not from the area – suggesting the 
views obtained represent those of people locally. This was exactly the same as 
the result from the previous survey. 

A very high 90% (93% last time) of those interviewed in Lancaster and 85%  
(99%) of those interviewed in Morecambe said they had used a local licensed 
vehicle in the last three months in the area. This retains the high values 
compared to earlier surveys as noted last time. 

Page 71



 

 

33 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

For this survey, a more detailed breakdown was provided. Across the area, 
70% said they had made one or more trips, but by private hire vehicle only. 
12% had used both hackney carriage and private hire and just 5% hackney 
carriage only. The share by private hire only was slightly higher in Morecambe 
with usage of hackney carriage only in Morecambe very low – just 2% said 
they had recently used hackney carriage only (8% in Lancaster).  

All respondents provided an estimate of how often they used a licensed vehicle 
in the area. In both areas, the highest proportion, 37% said they used licensed 
vehicles once or twice a month. This was significantly different to the previous 
survey where 21% in Lancaster and 24% in Morecambe, said they used them 
once or twice weekly. For this survey, 11% in Lancaster and 6% in Morecambe 
said they never used licensed vehicles.  

The resulting estimate of trips per person per month is 1.5 (was 4) for 
Lancaster and 1.8 (was 5.9) for Morecambe. The previous slightly higher usage 
in Morecambe remains. 

When a similar question was asked, but directed at specific use of hackney 
carriages only, the main level of usage for Lancaster was 12% (23%) saying 
once or twice monthly whilst for Morecambe just 5% (was a third) of 
respondents gave that answer, providing 0.2 (2.3) trips per month by hackney 
carriage for Lancaster and 0.14 (4.8) for Morecambe. 

The share of licensed vehicle trips made by hackney carriage in the area is now 
low – 14% (58%) in Lancaster and 8% (82%) in Morecambe. However, it 
remains the response that no-one in Morecambe and just 2% (1%) of people 
in Lancaster cannot remember when they last saw a hackney carriage in the 
area. However, this time 73% in Lancaster and 69% in Morecambe told us 
they could not remember when they last used a hackney carriage, a large 
increase in this value from the previous survey. 

Respondents told us their normal method of getting a licensed vehicle in the 
area. Many gave multiple responses. For this survey, 53% in Lancaster and 
56% in Morecambe said they used an app (last time this was 4% Lancaster 
and zero in Morecambe). The main loss was phone usage which is now 4% 
Lancaster and 3% Morecambe – reduced from 51% and 56% respectively. 

Hail in the street had also risen significantly from 2% to 23% in Lancaster and 
zero to 21% in Morecambe, though this could be use of an app. Freephones 
were 9% and 7% respectively. 

The quoted level of getting licensed vehicles from a rank was now 11% (41% 
last time) in Lancaster and 14% (37%) Morecambe). These are in accord with 
the overall usage shares albeit opposing ways round. 

Page 72



 

 

34 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

When asked regarding companies contacted, 87% of Lancaster and 90% of 
Morecambe respondents gave at least one company name. 8% of the 
Lancaster and 10% of the Morecambe responses gave three names, 60% and 
50% two and 32% and 40% one respectively. The two sets of responses gave 
very similar numbers of total mentions. Total mentions were about the same 
as in the previous survey (273 now, 291 last time). 

There were nine companies named, plus three supermarkets plus a search 
engine. This is more than the main three quoted last time suggesting higher 
levels of competition now. However, the top three companies of the last survey 
remain the top three now although their combined share has dropped from 
99% then to two thirds now. In the previous survey the top company got equal 
shares in both areas, whereas now it was more dominant in Morecambe. The 
second largest company did gain more quotes in Morecambe in the last survey 
but now has equal share across the area. The third quoted company was 
mainly only quoted in Lancaster and lost most share (23% overall to 9% 
overall now). 

The fourth most quoted company obtained 8% of the quotes overall, but was 
mainly quoted in Morecambe where it obtained 13% of the quotes. The next 
three level of quotes, gaining 8%, 6% and 4% in total, were actually 
supermarket names. Two were named in Lancaster and one in Morecambe. 
The other companies gained 3% or less overall including seven people in total 
shared over the area naming a search engine. 

These responses suggest a significant increase in the competitiveness of the 
private hire market in the City since the last survey, including widespread 
introduction of apps. This seems to have taken demand from the hackney 
carriage trade but has also shifted emphasis away from direct phone calls to 
use of the apps. 

60% of Lancaster and 52% of Morecambe respondents told us ranks they were 
aware of and if they used them or not. 2% of the Lancaster respondents named 
three ranks, 50% two and 48% one. In Morecambe, a third named two ranks 
and the remained just one rank. None named three ranks. This resulted in 144 
different quotes of ranks, 61 in Morecambe and 83 in Lancaster. 

Across the area, 43% (54% last time) of those naming ranks said that they 
used them.  

23 (28 last survey) different names were given for ranks, some of which were 
different names for the same rank, with some being general locations that 
were not easily traced. 

 

Page 73



 

 

35 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

For the whole area, the highest level of mention for a rank was for the Market 
Street rank in Morecambe, with 29% overall and 38% in Morecambe, and 24% 
saying they used it (13% and 25% last time, 66% saying they used it then).  

Next was Penny Street Lancaster with 19% overall and 59% using it, but 27% 
in Lancaster (17% last time, 47% using). Our observations found this location 
was not actually used. 

Dalton Square / Town Hall Gardens gained 9% with 54% saying they used it - 
although this is no longer used.  

Lancaster Station was third with 8% overall (12% for Lancaster respondents), 
with 18% saying they used it (10% and 20% respectively last time, 42% 
using).  

Marine Road Morecambe also obtained 8% overall with several calling it 
“Gerry’s fishing shop” with 50% saying they used it (was 15% of the overall 
and 29% of Morecambe quotes last time, but as the Promenade rank, with 
45% using).  

Common Garden St obtained 4% overall with 17% saying they used it.  

North Road gained just 1%, with both respondents saying they used it (7% 
last time, 64% using). Gage Street saw 1% of mentions with the person saying 
they used it. Morecambe Station also gained 1%, but unused, as did Lancaster 
Bus Station, also stated as unused (20% overall last time, 56% saying they 
used it, and 38% in Lancaster).  

These changes suggest further evidence that usage of hackney carriages 
appears to have been supplanted by private hire obtained by app.  

54% of Lancaster and 80% of Morecambe respondents provided views on 
various aspects of the service provided on their most recent licensed vehicle 
trip. For this survey, there was a clear difference between the Lancaster and 
Morecambe responses. For this reason, we have not presented the general 
summary adding both together. 

For Lancaster: 

Page 74



 

 

36 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 

There was one ‘very poor’ score for vehicle cleanliness, but no others. The 
typical score for all but driver knowledge was ‘average’. Driver knowledge 
however performed the best, with 45% scoring this good. This is a change 
from the last survey where there was largest response for ‘very good’. For 
Morecambe this time: 

 

This shows a generally better performance with the highest scores being good 
for all but price. There are no very poor scores and very few poor. Again driver 
knowledge is the best performer overall with 34% scoring this very good. Even 
for this area, however, this is a downward change since the previous survey 
when the focus had been on very good scores. 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Lancaster respondents only - view of aspects of 
service

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Morecambe respondents only -view of aspects of 
service

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

Page 75



 

 

37 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Interestingly the score for price was marginally worse than other scores but 
not as significantly as for last time, or indeed as is typical around the country. 
This could be another symptom of high levels of competition, which often 
focusses on price. 

There were some 232 votes given for matters that might encourage people to 
use hackney carriages or to use them more. For both areas the top item that 
would encourage or increase hackney carriage usage were more hackney 
carriages available by phone (34% with 40%, as last time, in Lancaster and 
29% in Morecambe). Next was if they were more affordable, 22% Lancaster 
(was 11%), 32% Morecambe and 27% overall. There is a clear wish for lower 
costs in Morecambe compared to Lancaster, although even there the level has 
increased from the last time. 

In Lancaster 14% (16% last time) said nothing would increase or encourage 
them to use hackney carriages with 18% in Morecambe. Vehicle quality saw 
8% of votes uniformly across the area, with 5% still preferring a screen (again 
consistent across the area). 

Respondents were asked if they, or anyone they knew, needed an adapted 
licensed vehicle to travel. Those saying ‘no’ accounted for 77% (66% last time) 
in Lancaster and 70% (74%) in Morecambe, suggesting a higher need for 
adapted vehicles in this area than in many other places (but actually reduced 
from the previous survey). Of those saying an adapted vehicle was required, 
the bulk required a WAV style rather than any other adaptation.  

People were then asked regarding latent demand by a request to tell us if they 
had ever given up waiting or made other arrangements to get hackney 
carriages either at a rank or by hailing. 8% (reduced from 14% last time) said 
they had issues at ranks in the Lancaster sample whilst 9% (8%) had similar 
issues in the Morecambe sample. This was investigated further to confirm if 
the locations were at active ranks or not. For the Lancaster respondents 14% 
(11%) had given up at a Morecambe rank, for Morecambe respondents, 38% 
(2% at specific Morecambe ranks). However, these only give a total of four 
people across the area. This suggests an overall area latent demand factor of 
1.02 for all ranks (was 1.08 for council ranks with 1.01 for the private station 
rank, and a combined value of 1.09 last time).  

However, there was concern given that some also mentioned giving up waiting 
at ranks we know to be little used (Penny Street and Gage Street).  

For all those giving up, 60% made a booking instead, 27% walked away or 
hailed and the remaining 13% (two people) phoned a friend or relative. 

 

Page 76



 

 

38 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

71% (77%) of Lancaster respondents and 64% (78%) of Morecambe 
respondents felt there were enough hackney carriages in the area – both 
reduced values since the last survey suggesting provision has worsened. 

With respect to comparing the time of the survey to pre-pandemic, 71% said 
they used private hire more (consistent between both areas) with 12% saying 
they used hackney carriage more (15% Lancaster and 8% Morecambe). 
Surprisingly none said they used them less. 

Looking to the future, 55% said they expected to use both kinds of vehicles 
about the same amount. Again the level saying they would use private hire 
more was higher at 37% compared to 7% for hackney carriages.  

These last two questions are generally against the national picture and again 
hint that the level of competition that appears to have occurred has benefitted 
both sides of the trade and perhaps increased demand from what it might 
otherwise have been.  

Questions were asked about COVID security measures but it was generally 
clear that people were generally not anywhere near as concerned as they had 
been previously: 

 

There was a small amount of encouragement for screen provision and a slightly 
higher level for drivers wearing masks, but in general the dominant view was 
now that none of these options remained of much importance to travellers in 
the Lancaster area, although many still felt that each measure was useful, with 
a few still considering each matter important.  

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

A screen between driver and passenger

Driver opening and closing the doors

Driver wearing a mask

Passenger required to wear a mask

Clear that driver has cleaned vehicle…

Views about COVID security measures - full area 
interviews

E I U N

Page 77



 

 

39 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

5 Key stakeholder consultation 
The following key stakeholders were contacted in line with the 
recommendations of the BPG: 

 Supermarkets 
 Hotels 
 Pubwatch / individual pubs / night clubs 
 Other entertainment venues 
 Restaurants 
 Hospitals 
 Police 
 Disability representatives 
 Rail operators 
 Other council contacts within all relevant local councils 

Comments received have been aggregated below to provide an overall 
appreciation of the situation at the time of this survey. In some cases, there 
are very specific comments from given stakeholders, but we try to maintain 
their confidentiality as far as is possible. The comments provided in the 
remainder of this Chapter are the views of those consulted, and not that of the 
authors of this report.  

Our information was obtained by telephone, email, letter or face to face 
meeting as appropriate. The list contacted includes those suggested by the 
Council, those drawn from previous similar surveys, and from general internet 
trawls for information. Our target stakeholders are as far as possible drawn 
from across the entire licensing area to ensure the review covers the full area 
and not just specific parts or areas. 

For the sake of clarity, we cover key stakeholders from the public side 
separately to those from the licensed vehicle trade element, whose views are 
summarized separately in the following Chapter. 

Supermarkets 
Checks with most supermarket phone lines received messages that people 
should obtain information from net-based sources given that most staff were 
focussing on keeping stores stocked and customers safe. No response was 
received from any supermarket. 

Hotels, Public houses, Night clubs, Other entertainment venues,  
Restaurants 
Some emails were acknowledged but no response was forthcoming. 

 
 
 

Page 78



 

 

40 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Health Service 
A response was received from the local hospital. They said patients did use 
local licensed vehicles, usually asking staff to get them an appropriate vehicle 
when needed. They told us they have a contract with one private hire company 
who generally provide a good service. The hospital had no nearby rank 
provision. 

The council licensing section are not aware of any other issues about 
availability of licensed vehicles being raised, which again suggests there are 
no significant issues since people would tend to make their views known were 
there any such issues. 

 
 
 

  

Page 79



 

 

41 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

6 Trade stakeholder views 
The BPG encourages all studies to include ‘all those involved in the trade’. 
There are a number of different ways felt to be valid in meeting this 
requirement, partly dependent on what the licensing authority feel is 
reasonable and possible given the specifics of those involved in the trade in 
their area. 

The most direct and least costly route is to obtain comment from trade 
representatives. This can be undertaken by email, phone call or face to face 
meeting by the consultant undertaking the study. In some cases to ensure 
validity of the work being undertaken it may be best for the consultation to 
occur after the main work has been undertaken. This avoids anyone being able 
to claim that the survey work was influenced by any change in behaviour. 

Most current studies tend to issue a letter and questionnaire to all hackney 
carriage and private hire owners, drivers and operators. This is best issued by 
the council on behalf of the independent consultant. Usual return is now using 
an on-line form of the questionnaire, with the option of postal return still being 
provided, albeit in some cases without use of a freepost return. Returns can 
be encouraged by email or direct contact via representatives.  

Some authorities cover private hire by issuing the letter and questionnaire to 
operators seeking they pass them on when drivers book on or off, or via vehicle 
data head communications. 

In all cases, we believe it is essential we document the method used clearly 
and measure response levels. However, it is also rare for there to be high 
levels of response, with 5% typically felt to be good and reasonable. Values 
below in brackets ( ) are from the 2019 survey for comparison and to identify 
trends in change. 

There were only 12 (five last time) responses received, 50% (40%) from 
hackney carriage, 33% (40%) from private hire and 17% (20%) from those 
that drove both kinds of vehicle. Of these, two thirds said the licensed vehicle 
trade was their only or main source of income. 25% were part of the trade but 
not presently working although intending to return when demand had 
increased again, with one person (8%) being a part time trade person who had 
other sources of income. None of those responding said they did not plan to 
return. 

The drivers responding had an average of 14 (16) years’ experience but 
ranging from recent starters to 30 years (eight to 28).  

 

Page 80



 

 

42 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

58% (20%) of the sample worked five days, 8% each six or seven days (60% 
for six last time) with the other two persons (17%) not having worked (one 
person last time). The average hours worked were 35 (38) with a maximum 
of 60 (same). This suggests less hours are being worked now. 

91% (80%) owned their own vehicle. 17% (40%) said someone else also drove 
the vehicle they used – both in evenings. For those not sharing their vehicle, 
10% said this had changed since COVID, i.e. a very small reduction in sharing. 

Of those responding, two thirds said they were getting less fare paying trips 
from ranks than pre-COVID with the remainder thinking levels were about the 
same. For bookings, two thirds thought they were now getting more bookings 
than pre-COVID, with the remainder saying about the same. 

In terms of stated impacts, three said they had taken alternative employment 
and one said they may not renew their licence when the current one expired – 
they had only just renewed immediately before the pandemic. Most others said 
the impact had been severe. Moving forward most were more hopeful although 
one had now chosen just to undertake school contracts. One said the fare rise 
had helped. One felt that until more drivers returned or joined there would 
continually be times that the fleet could not meet demand peaks. 

Two of the seven that responded said they worked to suit family commitments, 
the other five said to suit their health or well being. None said there were times 
they avoided although one did say they preferred to work daytimes. 

Of total responses, 44% said they normally undertook immediate hire from 
bookings, 38% immediate hire from ranks and 19% advanced hire work. There 
were some providing more than one response – 25% saying both immediate 
hire ranks and bookings and one saying immediate hire ranks, bookings and 
advanced hire work. None responded that they undertook chauffeur or 
corporate work.  

When asked directly if they accepted pre-bookings, half said they did, and half 
again said this was via an operator, with another saying by phone and another 
that this was school contracts. 

In terms of ranks, one gave three ranks and another two stated two. Of the 
total mentions of ranks, 50% were for the Bus Station, with one mention each 
for Brock Street, Common Garden Street, Penny Street, the railway station 
and ‘Morecambe’. 

 

 

 

Page 81



 

 

43 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Considering the share of work people obtained from different methods, one 
hackney carriage said they got 95% of work from the ranks. Two others said 
a quarter of work, two 20% and one just 5% of their work. For all but one of 
these the remainder of work came from bookings. One said three quarters of 
their work came from school contracts. Two private hire respondents got all 
their work from school contracts. 

58% felt there were enough hackney carriages in Lancaster at this point in 
time.  

With respect to frequency respondents got customers either needing to travel 
in wheel chairs, or transferring, none obtained such fares from any contract. 
75% never got either kind of fare from a rank. 38% did not get wheel chair 
work from bookings with 33% not getting transfer from chair bookings. 

13% said they obtained wheel chair or transfer passengers from ranks weekly. 
Such jobs came for 13% daily for bookings and 11% for transfers. 13% also 
said they obtained monthly jobs for passengers in wheel chairs. Overall, these 
are very low numbers.  

64% were aware of drivers that had given up due to COVID, with numbers 
trade members were aware of ranging from one to ten.  

When asked if respondents felt the limit benefitted the public, one said it 
ensured the quality of drivers and vehicles, another said safety and another 
said they agreed it did but did not say why. One felt it was now irrelevant as 
most made bookings. 

Five of the twelve made other comments. One asked for the return of the taxi 
forum. One felt passengers were not aware of the difference between hackney 
carriage and private hire and also stated that Penny Street and North Road 
ranks both saw significant issues with private cars parking on them and 
preventing hackney carriages using them. Another pointed out the low level of 
rank work and the low morale, which was leading to potential customers 
picking up the negative mood of the trade. They felt that adding any more 
hackney carriages would probably lead to more leaving the trade than joined. 

 

Page 82



 

 

44 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

  

Page 83



 

 

45 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance 
It is first important to define our specific view about what constitutes unmet 
demand. Our definition is when a person turns up at a hackney carriage rank 
and finds there is no vehicle there available for immediate hire. This normally 
leads to a queue of people building up, some of who may walk off (taken to be 
latent demand), whilst others will wait till a vehicle collects them. Later 
passengers may well arrive when there are vehicles there, but because of the 
queue will not obtain a vehicle immediately.  

There are other instances where queues of passengers can be observed at 
hackney carriage ranks. This can occur when the level of demand is such that 
it takes longer for vehicles to move up to waiting passengers than passengers 
can board and move away. This often occurs at railway stations but can also 
occur at other ranks where high levels of passenger arrivals occur. We do not 
consider this is unmet demand, but geometric delay and although we note this, 
it is not counted towards unmet demand being significant. 

The industry standard index of the significance of unmet demand (ISUD) was 
initiated at the time of the introduction of section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act 
as a numeric and consistent way of evaluating unmet demand and its 
significance. The ISUD methodology was initially developed by a university and 
then adopted by one of the leading consultant groups undertaking the surveys 
made necessary to enable authorities to retain their limit on hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers. The index has been developed and deepened over time to 
take into account various court challenges. It has now become accepted as the 
industry standard test of if identified unmet demand is significant.  

The index is a statistical guide derived to evaluate if observed unmet demand 
is in fact significant. However, its basis is that early tests using first principles 
identified based on a moderate sample suggested that the level of index of 80 
was the cut-off above which the index was in fact significant, and that unmet 
demand therefore was such that action was needed in terms of additional issue 
of plates to reduce the demand below this level, or a complete change of policy 
if it was felt appropriate. This level has been accepted as part of the industry 
standard. However, the index is not a strict determinant and care is needed in 
providing the input samples as well as interpreting the result provided. 
However, the index has various components which can also be used to 
understand what is happening in the rank-based and overall licensed vehicle 
market. 

 

 

Page 84



 

 

46 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

ISUD draws from several different parts of the study data. Each separate 
component of the index is designed to capture a part of the operation of the 
demand for hackney carriages and reflect this numerically. Whilst the principal 
inputs are from the rank surveys, the measure of latent demand comes from 
the public on-street surveys, and any final decision about if identified unmet 
demand is significant, or in fact about the value of continuing the current policy 
of restricting vehicle numbers, must be taken fully in the context of a careful 
balance of all the evidence gathered during the survey process.  

The present ISUD calculation has two components which both could be zero. 
In the case that either are zero, the overall index result is zero, which means 
they clearly demonstrate there is no unmet demand which is significant, even 
if other values are high. 

The first component which can be zero is the proportion of daytime hours 
where people are observed to have to wait for a hackney carriage to arrive. 
The level of wait used is ANY average wait at all within any hour. The industry 
definition of these hours varies, the main index user counts from 10:00 to 
18:00 (i.e. eight hours ending at 17:59). The present index is clear that unmet 
demand cannot be significant if there are no such hours. The only rider on this 
component is that the sample of hours collected must include a fair element of 
such hours, and that if the value is non-zero, review of the potential effect of 
a wider sample needs to be considered. 

The other component which could be zero is the test identifying the proportion 
of passengers which are travelling in any hour when the average passenger 
wait in that hour is greater than one minute.  

If both of these components are non-zero, then the remaining components of 
the index come into play. These are the peakiness factor, the seasonality 
factor, average passenger delay, and the latent demand factor.  

Average passenger delay is the total amount of time waited by all passengers 
in the sample, divided by the total number of passengers observed who 
entered hackney carriages.  

The seasonality factor allows for the undertaking of rank survey work in periods 
which are not typical, although guidance is that such periods should normally 
be avoided if possible particularly as the impact of seasons may not just be on 
the level of passenger demand, but may also impact on the level of supply. 
This is particularly true in regard to if surveys are undertaken when schools 
are active or not.  

 

Page 85



 

 

47 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Periods when schools are not active can lead to more hackney carriage vehicles 
being available whilst they are not required for school contract work. Such 
periods can also reduce hackney carriage demand with people away on holiday 
from the area. Generally, use of hackney carriages is higher in December in 
the run-up to Christmas, but much lower in January, February and the parts 
of July and August when more people are likely to be on holiday. The factor 
tends to range from 0.8 for December (factoring high demand level impacts 
down) to 1.2 for January / February (inflating the values from low demand 
levels upwards).  

There can be special cases where summer demand needs to be covered, 
although high peaks for tourist traffic use of hackney carriages tend not to be 
so dominant at the current time, apart from in a few key tourist authorities. 

The peakiness factor is generally either 1 (level demand generally) or 0.5 
(demand has a high peak at one point during the week). This is used to allow 
for the difficulty of any transport system being able to meet high levels of 
peaking. It is rarely possible or practicable for example for any public transport 
system, or any road capacity, to be provided to cover a few hours a week.  

The latent demand factor was added following a court case. It comes from 
asking people in the on-street questionnaires if they have ever given up waiting 
for a hackney carriage at a rank in any part of the area. This factor generally 
only affects the level of the index as it only ranges from 1.0 (no-one has given 
up) to 2.0 (everyone says they have). It is also important to check that people 
are quoting legitimate hackney carriage rank waits as some, despite careful 
questioning, quote giving up waiting at home, which must be for a private hire 
vehicle (even if in hackney carriage guise as there are few private homes with 
taxi ranks outside). 

The ISUD index is the result of multiplying each of the components together 
and benchmarking this against the cut-off value of 80. Changes in the 
individual components of the index can also be illustrative. For example, the 
growth of daytime hour queueing can be an earlier sign of unmet demand 
developing than might be apparent from the proportion of people experiencing 
a queue particularly as the former element is based on any wait and not just 
that averaging over a minute. The change to a peaky demand profile can tend 
towards reducing the potential for unmet demand to be significant.  

Finally, any ISUD value must be interpreted in the light of the sample used to 
feed it, as well as completely in the context of all other information gathered. 
Generally, the guide of the index will tend not to be overturned in regard to 
significant unmet demand being identified, but this cannot be assumed to be 
the case – the index is a guide and a part of the evidence and needs to be 
taken fully in context. 

Page 86



 

 

48 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Results from the latest survey, and from all other available reviews of demand 
for Lancaster are provided below in the table below: 

 2022 
less 
rail 

2022 
With 
station 

2019 2016 2013 2010 2007 2005 2000 1996 

APD 0.25 0.4 0.18 0.48 0.12 0.31 0.35 1.32 0.97 0.61 
OP 15.38 21.92 13.73 37.5 10 43.75 3.7 7.55 11 13 
GID 4.55 9.34 3.4 14.3 4.3 32.7 16.7 34.27 26.1 24 
Seas 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 
Peak 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 1 1 
Latent 1.02 1.02 1.12 1.015 1.04      
ISUD 8.93 41.75 4.8 131.5 2.7 222 11 171 278 190 

 

The figures in the table above exclude statistics for the private Lancaster 
station rank from the 2010 survey onwards. The additional restriction on 
vehicles that can service that location, plus issues arising from train frequency 
impacts on demand requirements makes providing good service there much 
more onerous and difficult. Further, any influence from the Council in terms of 
being able to add extra vehicles to remove unmet demand is simply not 
possible. 

Since 2016, most statistics have seen improvement away from unmet demand 
being significant. Only latent demand has increased. The next result is that the 
index of significance of unmet demand is now 4.8, much lower than in 2016 
although still higher than in 2013. This means there is no unmet demand in 
the area that can be counted as significant at this point in time.  

For the sake of completeness, the station performance was reviewed using the 
industry standard ISUD tool. The result was a high index of 1,005 that suggests 
the unmet demand observed at the station is significant. However, as already 
discussed this arises from the moderate frequency of trains which provides 
spikes in demand that are difficult for any fleet to meet. Further discussion 
occurs in the conclusions. The value in 2016 was much higher, although the 
sample at the station at that time was lower and the result less robust for the 
station.  

 

  

Page 87



 

 

49 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions 
This unmet demand survey on behalf of Lancaster City Council has been 
undertaken following the guidance of the BPG and other recent case history 
regarding unmet demand and its significance. This chapter draws the key 
points from each chapter, provides a synthesis drawing these together and 
then provides conclusions from the database. The following chapter provides 
specific recommendations based on our understanding of the database of 
information. 

Background and context 
This latest unmet demand survey for Lancaster saw the principal information 
gathered between November 2022 and February 2023. Rank observations 
were undertaken in mid-November, on-street interviews in late November, and 
driver views obtained by mid-February 2023. Key stakeholders were 
approached through the period of the survey. 
 
Lancashire remains an area where all but four of the authorities retain their 
limit on hackney carriage vehicle numbers. Five other authorities held their 
review at the same time as this survey. The area is has not seen much 
population growth since the time of the previous survey.  
 
The area sees most population in the two largest of the four centres, Lancaster 
and Morecambe. Local Transport Planning is focussed at the County tier level 
but also tailored through the Lancaster Highway and Transport Masterplan of 
2016. Licensed vehicles are stated to be the third hierarchy of choice after 
ultra-low emission buses and other buses, with a stated aim to seek ultra-low 
emission licensed vehicles were possible (unchanged from the time of the 
previous survey). In terms of rank provision, there are some local powers 
allowing limited introduction of new ranks, used in some other areas but not 
Lancaster. 
 
The Council has limited hackney carriage vehicle numbers since at least 1994 
and very regularly reviews this policy by a full independent survey. Three plate 
issues have occurred in this period, all in favour of wheel chair accessible style 
vehicles (WAV) (with a stipulation that these vehicles must remain WAV). The 
area has a history of owners providing further WAV by choice although these 
can, and often do, revert to saloon as the owners consider necessary. 
 
The level of hackney carriages in the area is now 12% above the level in 1994 
whilst private hire are 49% higher (although the latter had begun to decrease 
before the pandemic and continued to decline until the 2022 March DfT survey, 
after which there has been some marginal resurgence). 

Page 88



 

 

50 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

This means at the time of the survey the hackney carriage fleet is 36% of the 
total licensed fleet, high for an area with limited numbers. At the last survey, 
this share was lower at 31%, having been at maximum at 43% in 1997. This 
is partly because the long-standing tradition in Lancaster is for a lot of private 
hire bookings to be undertaken by hackney carriages. The level of independent 
vehicles only getting their living from ranks is negligible. 
 
The licensed vehicle fleet sees many hackney carriages operating for private 
hire companies blurring the distinction between the two vehicle styles. This 
seems to have reduced the overall pressure on private hire vehicle growth 
although most hackney carriages need to work on private hire as the level of 
rank work available continues to reduce. 
 
Driver numbers declined since the last survey to a low point in the March 2022 
DfT statistics after which some growth has occurred. The focus remains on 
dual driver licences meaning drivers can choose the appropriate vehicle at the 
time. 
 
Operator numbers show a general decline since the last survey. This is a trend 
accelerated in the pandemic of company agglomeration and cessation of 
smaller companies in favour of larger ones. 
 
The hackney carriage WAV proportion has been stable at 14% since 2010 
(below the average of 22% across similar authorities with WAV but not with 
fully WAV fleets). Phv WAV have been stable at 8% (5% nationally) of the fleet 
for the last 18 months. Of note is the fact there are 15 WAV in both parts of 
the fleet, the difference in proportion purely due to the different total numbers 
of vehicles in each part of the fleet.  
 
The proportion of the total licensed fleet that is WAV is now 10%, similar to 
four other authorities with limited numbers of hackney carriages and eight 
other authorities. This is only marginally less than the 11% of similar 
authorities. 
 
Records are available of the results of all surveys including those for 1996, 
2000, 2005, 2007, 2010, 2013, 2016 and 2019, providing a very regular and 
DfT guidance compliant level of information about demand in the area.  
 
There are seven rail stations in the Lancaster area, with Lancaster the busiest, 
being 232nd highest out of the just over 2,600 Great Britain stations (having 
moved up from 282nd in 2019). It saw over 1.66 million passenger entries and 
exits in the latest available data (to end of March 2022) (was 2.1 million). 
Morecambe is second busiest, but patronage there is just over 147,000. The 

Page 89



 

 

51 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Lancaster rail passenger flows have gone down 24% in a similar period to that 
between the last survey and this one. 
 
Rank observations 
The 2022 survey found two lightly used 2019 ranks now with no hackney 
carriage activity at all – Penny Street and Tunstall Street. Further, Marine Road 
Central in Morecambe was hardly used at all by hackney carriages. 
 
67% (73% last survey) of the vehicles observed at or near ranks were local 
hackney carriages. 1.2% (14%) were private hire vehicles and 11% (same) 
private cars. In terms of total all vehicle movements, 27% (36%) were at or 
near the North Road Diggles location in Lancaster, reflecting its location in the 
heart of the Lancaster shopping area. Shares of the numbers of total vehicles 
observed increased at Common Garden St, Market St and Bus Station for this 
survey whilst movements at the station were reduced. 
 
Morecambe ranks saw the worst impact of abuse by private cars, although 
many of these incidents were when the two ranks in question were not actually 
in use by hackney carriages. With the almost lack of use of Marine Road Central 
it has almost become a normal parking place. 
 
Despite the extension of the Diggles rank since the last survey, abuse by 
private vehicles has worsened, with 31% of the vehicles seen here being 
private cars. 30% of vehicles at Common Garden Street were private cars. 
Whilst this is a national issue that has developed essentially due to the 
pandemic (when ranks were less used and private cars searching more for 
places to park given their rise in use against other public transport), 
nonetheless this is an issue that Lancashire enforcement need to take seriously 
as such use leads to public safety issues.  
 
The headline of the 2022 rank observations is that estimated weekly usage of 
hackney carriage ranks by passengers has halved since the last survey. This 
is strongly against the previous trend of stable levels of usage between the 
last two surveys following reductions in the level of decline over the previous 
two surveys. 
 
For the 2022 observations, the private Lancaster Station rank remained 
busiest, but seeing some 34% (40% last time) of the total estimated 3,195 
passengers in a typical week. North Road, Diggles remained second with 30% 
(same as last survey) followed by the Damside Bus Station with 20% (actually 
increase from 16% last time). Market Street Morecambe again saw 9% of total 
passenger demand. Common Garden Street saw increased usage in share 
terms, up from 5% to 7%.  

Page 90



 

 

52 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

In absolute terms the Lancaster Station rank saw a 57% reduction in 
passenger numbers (although rail passenger flows were only down 24%). Even 
with this reduction, the rank still takes away an estimated 6.6% of all 
passengers leaving the station from trains. 
 
For 2022 the peak hour passenger flow was 90 in the 02:00 hour early 
Saturday morning. 01:00 Sunday saw 89 passengers. These values are 
significantly less than the peak of 161 for the last survey. For both peak hours 
the total is made up from North Road and one other rank (Common Garden 
Street, Saturday early hours and Bus Station Sunday early hours). The actual 
peaks at North Road are later than the main peak by an hour early Saturday 
and two hours early Sunday. 
 
The level of peakiness of demand is now higher (3.7 compared to 3.4). During 
the survey period there were three hours without passengers using any rank 
– increased from the single hour in 2019.  
 
Friday average passenger flows per hour were 32 and Saturdays 31, with 
Thursday seeing just seven (but excluding station flows). When taken with the 
average passenger occupancy of 1.6 persons per vehicle this suggests at best 
20 rank-based hires per hour on average – or just 0.2 hires per hour per 
hackney carriage vehicle. 
 
The busiest rank when operating is far and away the Diggles rank. It is now 
the only location that sees more than 25 passengers in any hour in the area – 
last time this value was 60 passengers. The Bus Station rank appears to have 
changed from a mainly daytime rank to a location used for all hours. 
 
Across the rank observations, just 8% (6% last time) of hours had average 
passenger delay (APD) in that hour a minute or more, with a further 10% (9%) 
having APD of lower levels. Only 8.1% (9.4% last time) of passengers actually 
experienced a wait of a minute or more. Some occurrences of unmet demand 
related more to ‘thin demand’ (passengers waiting when rank demand was 
generally low) than to any need for more vehicles. However, the key message 
is that, despite half the passengers, levels of unmet demand are marginally 
increased, which is not what people would expect.  
 
The issues of poorer service at the station did not seem to exist as much in 
2022 although the ISUD index is still worse when the station operation is 
included. This confirms the added restriction and payment for a permit to the 
rail company acts against the level of service provided to its customers. To 
reiterate, this is a rail company decision and the Council has little influence on 
this. 

Page 91



 

 

53 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Review of the delay profile found the focus of Friday waits between 12:00 and 
18:00 that day, covering most active ranks in those hours. Saturday waiting 
was focussed on 10:00 to 13:00.  
 
While waiting did occur in the busiest hours, this was at a much lower level 
than in other hours, suggesting the fleet has sufficient vehicles to meet peak 
demand but struggles to provide sufficient vehicles when demand is much 
lower (almost certainly relating to vehicles moving to private hire operations). 
The level of passengers observed to walk away from ranks was reduced from 
63 last time to 43 now.  
 
Review of plates active found 51% (54% last time, not much different) of the 
fleet were observed on the Saturday of the survey. The Lancaster patterns in 
usage suggest more vehicles active in the daytime and less at night, a 
nationally similar picture given that it appears drivers now prefer to work times 
they prefer, and an apparent ability to earn sufficient to avoid less preferable 
hours. 
 
Our Morecambe observations at the main rank there identified around six 
vehicles servicing the location in our sample hours. It is possible that this rank 
might be the only one that could provide sufficient remuneration for a small 
fleet dedicated to its service. 
 
The same number - four people - were observed accessing hackney carriages 
at ranks in wheel chairs, although the locations used were different, split 
equally between Lancaster Bus Station and the Morecambe rank. This was 
supplemented by a further 28 (44 last time) who were assisted into vehicles 
due to apparent disabilities. Although a small number, this choice for these 
travellers would be of significant benefit and importance to them. They could 
have made bookings but appear to have chosen the rank option. 
 
On street public views 
A representative sample of local people were interviewed about their views 
regarding local licensed vehicles. 90% of those interviewed in Lancaster and 
85% in Morecambe said they had used a local licensed vehicle in the last three 
months, slightly lower than the 93% and 99% of the last surveys. However, 
only 5% said they travelled by only hackney carriage, 12% had used both 
hackney carriage and private hire and 70% said private hire only. For 
Morecambe the hackney carriage share was just 2%.  
 
 
 

Page 92



 

 

54 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The estimated trips per person per month was reduced to 1.5 Lancaster and 
1.8 Morecambe for all licensed vehicles. 14% of the Lancaster and 8% of the 
Morecambe trips were quoted as being by hackney carriage. However, people 
were aware of hackney carriages but with an increased share not being able 
to remember when they last used a hackney carriage.  
 
A telling statistic is that the highest used method of getting a licensed vehicle 
now was using an app (53% Lancaster and 56% Morecambe) with a strong 
reduction in phone bookings. Hailing also increased to 23% and 21% 
respectively. Ranks were down to 11% and 14% (were 41% and 37%) for the 
respective areas. 
 
The number of quoted private hire companies used increased from four last 
time to nine now. However, the top three companies remained the same 
although their share of mentions was down from almost 100% to two thirds 
now. This seems to confirm increased private hire competition across the area 
with a particular emphasis on use of apps, although the overall level of 
companies has reduced in physical numbers, those that are publicly active 
seem to have put effort into being active. 
 
Respondents displayed a good knowledge of ranks with 43% (54% last time) 
of those named also being used. The most known rank this time was Market 
Street Morecambe (29%), Penny Street (19%, with 59% saying they used it), 
with North Road gaining just 1% across the area of mentions, and no mention 
of the Bus Station at all. Lancaster station gained 8% of mentions. 
 
In terms of how people felt about various aspects of the service provided 
across the licensed vehicle fleet, people in Morecambe tended to vote ‘good’ 
whilst those in Lancaster only said ‘average’ although the level of very poor or 
poor scores was minimal. Reduced levels of customer satisfaction often result 
when competition occurs – the fact that price is not an issue suggests the 
competition may have been in place. 
 
In terms of factors that might increase hackney carriage usage, the key one 
was more hackney carriages people could book by phone followed by them 
being more affordable.  
 
The question about need for an adapted vehicle identified reduced but still high 
need in the area, mainly for WAV style vehicles.  
 
Latent demand for ranks was estimated at 1.02 (reduced from 1.09 last time). 
 

Page 93



 

 

55 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The level of those feeling there were enough hackney carriages was reduced 
(71% compared to 77% for Lancaster and 64% compared to 78% for 
Morecambe).  
 
Key stakeholder views 
No views were provided apart from one from the local hospital who had an 
account with a private hire company who generally provided a good service. 
 
Trade views 
For the 2022 survey, the level of driver response was increased from last time, 
but only from five to twelve, a very low response. Half these were from those 
saying they drove hackney carriage, 17% from drivers of both kinds of vehicles 
and the remaining third from private hire drivers. Two thirds of these said the 
licensed vehicle trade was their only or main source of income. 25% were not 
working at the time of the survey but planned to return when demand 
increased further. 
 
Experience levels were around 14 years with the maximum quoted 30 years. 
The highest proportion of people worked five days (58%) with an average of 
35 hours per week and 60 hours maximum, the average slightly less than that 
quoted last time. This time almost all owned their own vehicle with 
demonstration of a small reduction in vehicle sharing since COVID. 
 
There were a lot of pessimistic responses about impact of the pandemic 
although quite a few were more hopeful looking forward. Several were clear 
they had taken other jobs and one was not sure if they would renew their 
licence when it ended. Of those responding, 44% took immediate hire from 
bookings, 38% immediate hire from ranks and 19% advanced hire work.  
 
Half of the small number of rank mentions were the bus station. Brock Street, 
Common Garden Street, Penny Street, Lancaster station and ‘Morecambe’ 
obtained one mention each. The highest quoted level of work from ranks was 
95% by one person – the next most was 25%. Three mentioned school 
contracts with two getting all their work from them. 
 
58% felt there were enough hackney carriages in Lancaster at the time of the 
survey.  
 
Mention was made of the issues caused by private cars parking in ranks – 
affecting both Penny Street and North Road.  
 
 

Page 94



 

 

56 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

There were two responses about how the limit benefitted the public – saying 
it ensured the quality of drivers and vehicles the other saying it kept vehicles 
safer. One felt a limit was irrelevant as they thought most people now booked 
their vehicles. 
 
The overall tone of the responses was relative concern for the future. One 
suggested the limit was one of the few positive points at the present time. 
 
Formal evaluation of significance of unmet demand 
The 2023 evaluation using the industry standard index of significance of unmet 
demand (ISUD) provided a value of 8.93, a long way from the level of 80 that 
is counted to show unmet demand to be significant. The value is higher than 
the previous value of 4.8. However, latent demand has reduced whilst other 
elements have only increased marginally. 

However, evaluation of the station rank, and of all ranks including that location, 
suggests much poorer service occurs at that location. As already noted, this 
results both from the nature of train arrivals as well as from the further 
limitation on numbers of vehicles able to service this site. The index for all 
ranks including the station rises to 41.75. However, this value was much lower 
than the value of 1005 for ISUD obtained last time for the station alone.  

The general incidence of delay – the level of passengers travelling in hours 
with an average passenger demand level a minute or more – is double that of 
the Council only ranks. The average passenger delay rises from 0.25 to 0.4 
seconds. The off peak delay parameter increases albeit less than the general 
delay factor.  

Synthesis 
The headline of this survey is that rank usage in the area has halved since the 
last survey, just three years ago (but across the pandemic). Despite this, levels 
of unmet demand have increased, but not greatly. Not only has the overall 
level of rank usage declined, the number of active ranks has seen its biggest 
ever reduction, with three ranks that saw some activity last time now seeing 
no or very little activity at all.  

There were some positive points – the number of people observed travelling 
in wheel chairs was exactly the same for this survey as for the last. Latent 
demand and levels of people walking away from ranks were reduced.  

People’s views of the service was worse than in the previous survey – more so 
in Lancaster than in Morecambe. Public responses suggested a big shift to 
usage of apps since the last survey mainly against private hire bookings but 
also reducing rank usage. Strangely hailing is quoted as increasing, but some 
of this could be further app usage.  

Page 95



 

 

57 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The profile of rank usage is similar to the last survey but just at an overall half 
level. In the last survey peak passenger flows in an hour were 161 – this time 
they were 90 (and it must be remembered that is passengers, not fare-paying 
journeys which will be less by the level of average vehicle occupancy). 

It appears that there has been strong competition in the private hire sector, 
much using introduction of apps, which appears to have reduced the hackney 
carriage rank-based sector severely. This has led to many hackney carriage 
drivers becoming despondent. The lack of driver response (albeit better than 
last time) is unfortunate. Many have found other sources of work either from 
school contracts or other sources but in any event rank-based demand has 
been severely hit. 

One of the most active ranks suffers from abuse by private vehicles despite 
having been improved since the last survey in terms of having extra space. 
This has seen a benefit in reduction of issues with private hire vehicles, but 
the private vehicle issue has worsened. 

In the last survey, it was estimated that there were just 4.9 paid journeys per 
vehicle per day. That value is now 2.7. The encouragement to obtain work 
from private hire bookings is even stronger now.  

The hackney carriage vehicle trade cannot stand any further reduction in 
passenger numbers if it is to remain viable. This is more critical to visitors to 
the area who may not readily be aware of local apps and who are more 
dependent on rank provision, unless they visit regularly. 

Conclusions 
Our independent collation of evidence of demand for hackney carriages in the 
Lancaster licensing area found a very disturbing picture of a strong decline in 
use of hackney carriages across the authority area. This covers reductions in 
both volume and extent of ranks used. Morecambe now effectively only has 
one, daytime only, rank. Lancaster has two ranks, one more attuned to night 
demand, plus the private rank whose patronage has naturally reduced with 
decline in rail patronage not yet returned to pre-pandemic levels. Ironically the 
peak usage of the rail station matched the last survey period almost exactly, 
making the differences observed worse. 

The overall evidence is that the current limit on hackney carriage vehicle 
licences is providing the last vestiges of stability, but is providing public benefit 
to those using licensed vehicles in the area. Without the limit the decline in 
usage may well have been much worse. However, if hackney carriages are to 
remain a key part of public transport provision in Lancaster, urgent action is 
needed to keep them. 

Page 96



 

 

58 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

It is essential to make sure that the North Road rank is strongly protected from 
private vehicle usage. Zero tolerance of abuse at all times is needed. To ensure 
this is possible, it may be necessary to extend the rank even further. This could 
be achieved by giving up the many unused rank spaces within the town. The 
all-day space needs to be for two vehicles, perhaps moving partly backwards 
into the heavily abused double yellow line section. The night section needs to 
begin operation at 20:00 or even 18:00 once the use for loading ceases, not 
leaving a gap in between where other vehicles can get established.  

A decision is needed if Penny Street needs to be retained or not. The present 
location has around six spaces. It might be more appropriate to reduce this to 
two spaces, but design them to be much more clearly a rank, and then ensure 
they are enforced. However, this should only be undertaken if the trade commit 
to using the rank. The public strangely said they used it. 

Discussion is needed with the trade, and perhaps with the night trade in 
Morecambe if a better night rank provision is needed there. The former rank 
there which was much more easily enforceable and obvious was always much 
more highly used. It may be, however, that this demand has now moved to 
private hire and app-based (almost certainly using the same vehicles but not 
rank-based). 

If the Council wish to retain an active hackney carriage rank-based operation 
in the authority, the limit should be retained although it is possible that the 
number could be set as a moratorium on new plates rather than a fixed limit, 
allowing the level of plates to reduce. The actual rank-based demand element 
of the hackney carriage trade clearly cannot support anywhere near as many 
vehicles.  

The previous survey concerns and thoughts about attempting to increase the 
level of wheel chair or other adapted hackney carriages would no longer find 
many if any willing to invest extra in new or revised vehicles. There is also 
unlikely to be much spare investment moneys around in the hackney carriage 
trade to see move to more sustainable vehicles either. 

  

Page 97



 

 

59 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

9 Recommendations 
On the basis of the evidence gathered in this unmet demand survey for 
Lancaster, our key conclusion is that there is no evidence of any unmet 
demand for the services of hackney carriages either patent or latent which is 
significant at the point in time this survey was undertaken in the Lancaster 
licensing area. The committee is therefore able to retain the current limit, and 
do so at its present level. There is specifically no need to add any further 
licences. In fact there could be a clear case for not renewing any spare licences 
that might appear. 

The committee has to determine if it considers retention of a rank-based 
hackney carriage operation important to the area. If so, significant action 
needs to be encouraged some of which is beyond the remit of licensing. In 
essence, current used ranks need strong and zero tolerance enforcement at all 
times, and up to three ranks need to see significant development, which 
requires action and agreement from Lancashire highways. 

The principal action within the gift of licensing is public education of the 
different kinds of licensed vehicle and how the public can engage them. This 
covers education of both local and visiting users. 

Page 98



 

 

60 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

  

Page 99



 

 

61 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Appendix 1 – List of ranks  

Rank / operating hours Spaces (approx) Comments 
Lancaster City 
24-hour ranks 

Damside Bus Station 11 Back in use as main rank 
Penny Street, KFC 4 Now little used 

Common Garden Street 2  
North Road, Diggles 1 Three additional spaces at night  

(see below) 
Night only ranks 

North Road 11 Operates 2200 to 0400. 
Main night club now gone, limited use 

Gage Street 3 Operates 2000 – 0600 

North Road, Diggles 3 Operates 2200 - 0600 

Penny Street 5 Operates 2200 - 0600 
Brock Street 5 Operates 1800 - 0800 
Sun Hotel 2 New rank operating 1800 to 0600 

Lower St, Leonardsgate Car Park 8 Operates 0100 – 0330 1 Sept to 30 June 
Non-central rank locations (Radio) 

Ash Grove 1 

All to meet condition that vehicles 
should proceed to rank to wait 

Torrisholme road 1 
Coulston Road 1 
Hala Square 1 

St Martin’s Road 1 
Green Lane Halton Road 1 

Quernmore Road 1 
Private Ranks 

Lancaster railway station, County 
side 

6 Single space near exit with further 
spaces within forecourt. Supplementary 
payment to Avanti Trains via an agency 

Lancaster University, Bowland Ave 3  
Lancaster University, South West 

Drive 
2  

Morecambe 
24 hour ranks 

Market Street, Arndale and feeder 8+4 Main daytime rank directly outside 
shopping centre and supermarket 

Tunstall Street, rear of Arndale 
shopping centre 

3 New during 2015 

Morecambe rail station car park 5 Purpose built area on council land 

Page 100



 

 

62 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Broadway 4  
Marine Road East / Elm Grove 2  

Marine Rd W / Lancashire St 3 See below for night extension 

Marine Road opp Midland Hotel 2  

Marine Road E opp Town Hall 4  

Night time ranks 
Marine Road West / Lancashire 

Street 
2 2000 to 0600 additional spaces 

Tunstall St 2 1800 to 0800 additional spaces 

Marine Road Central opposite War 
Memorial 

5 2000 to 0600 

Victoria Street 2 2200 to 0400 
Marine Road West near Aldi 6 2000 to 0600 
Marine Road Central (Costa) 5 1800 to 0800 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

 

63 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Appendix 2 – details of rail patronage at local stations 

 
Rail year (ends March in last 

year noted) 

Entries / exits Growth / decline 

Lancaster (232nd) (was 282nd last survey)(Avanti) 
1997 / 1998 1,051,133 n/a 
1998 / 1999 1,098,475 +5% 
1999 / 2000 1,154,174 +5% 
2000 / 2001 1,131,960 -2% 
2001 / 2002 1,150,536 +2% 
2002 / 2003 1,115,448 -3% 
2003 / 2004 Not collected  
2004 / 2005 1,270,227 +14% 
2005 / 2006 1,317,299 +4% 
2006 / 2007 1,395,832 +6% 
2007 /2008 1,498,353 +7% 
2008 / 2009 1,559,994 +% 
2009 / 2010 1,656,070 +6% 
2010 / 2011 1,787,698 +8% 
2011 / 2012 1,835,462 +3% 
2012 / 2013 1,850,772 +1% 
2013 / 2014 1,915,446 +3% 
2014 / 2015 2,004,122 +5% 
2015 / 2016 2,033,538 +1% 
2016 / 2017 2,146,796 +6% 
2017 / 2018 2,142,868 -0.2% 
2018 / 2019 2,122,814 -1% 
2019 / 2020 2,193,066 +3% 
2020 / 2021 521,432 -76% 
2021 / 2022 1,659,362 +218% 

Growth since last survey  
(2018/9 to 2021/2)  
(and from 97/98) 

 -22%  
(+58%) 

  

Page 102



 

 

64 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Rail year (ends March in last 
year noted) 

Entries / exits Growth / decline 

Morecambe (1,308th) ( was 1,418th) Northern 
1997 / 1998 195,573 n/a 
1998 / 1999 202,754 +4% 
1999 / 2000 202,239 -0.3% 
2000 / 2001 194,329 -4% 
2001 / 2002 185,476 -5% 
2002 / 2003 167,592 -10% 
2003 / 2004 Not collected  
2004 / 2005 195,316 +17% 
2005 / 2006 185,405 -5% 
2006 / 2007 188,789 +2% 
2007 /2008 205,495 +9% 
2008 / 2009 204,100 +0.3% 
2009 / 2010 204,858 +0.3 
2010 / 2011 221,142 +8% 
2011 / 2012 220,296 -0.4% 
2012 / 2013 209,108 -5% 
2013 / 2014 217,280 +4% 
2014 / 2015 245,548 +13% 
2015 / 2016 235,198 -4% (+20% overall) 
2016 / 2017 237,976 +1% 
2017 / 2018 225,632 -5% 
2018 / 2019 195,956 -13% 
2019 / 2020 207,976 +6% 
2020 / 2021 44,778 -78% 
2021 / 2022 147,004 +228% 

Growth since last survey  
(2018/9 to 2021/2)  
(and from 97/98) 

 -25% 
(-25%) 

 
  

Page 103



 

 

65 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
 

Rail year (ends March in last 
year noted) 

Entries / exits Growth / decline 

Carnforth (1,284th) (was 1,497th) Trans Pennine Express 
1997 / 1998 110,164 n/a 
1998 / 1999 107,814 -2% 
1999 / 2000 112,957 +5% 
2000 / 2001 123,624 +9% 
2001 / 2002 98,461 -20% 
2002 / 2003 105,046 +7% 
2003 / 2004 Not collected  
2004 / 2005 149,649 +42% 
2005 / 2006 157,240 +5% 
2006 / 2007 150,824 -4% 
2007 /2008 174,644 +16% 
2008 / 2009 176,918 +1% 
2009 / 2010 179,602 +2% 
2010 / 2011 196,972 +10% 
2011 / 2012 191,306 -3% 
2012 / 2013 196,470 +3% 
2013 / 2014 206,590 +5% 
2014 / 2015 204,196 -1% 
2015 / 2016 206,572 +1% (88% overall) 
2016 / 2017 198,270 -4% 
2017 / 2018 175,384 -12% 
2018 / 2019 166,556 -19% 
2019 / 2020 189,000 +13% 
2020 / 2021 51,772 -73% 
2021 / 2022 151,484 +92% 

Growth since last survey  
(2018/9 to 2021/2)  
(and from 97/98) 

 -9% 
(+37%) 

 
  

Page 104



 

 

66 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
Rail year (ends March in last 

year noted) 
Entries / exits Growth / decline 

Bare Lane (1,569th) (was 1,583rd) Northern 
1997 / 1998 118,851 n/a 
1998 / 1999 125,886 +6% 
1999 / 2000 123,624 -2% 
2000 / 2001 125,093 +1% 
2001 / 2002 113,211 -10% 
2002 / 2003 101,181 -11% 
2003 / 2004 Not collected  
2004 / 2005 116,597 +15% 
2005 / 2006 117,576 +1% 
2006 / 2007 117,264 -0.3% 
2007 /2008 126,706 +8% 
2008 / 2009 132,652 +5% 
2009 / 2010 131,752 -1% 
2010 / 2011 137,856 +5% 
2011 / 2012 141,200 +2% 
2012 / 2013 138,054 -2% 
2013 / 2014 167,726 +21% 
2014 / 2015 183,830 +10% 
2015 / 2016 188,120 +2% 
2016 / 2017 179,506 -5% 
2017 / 2018 155,096 -14% 
2018 / 2019 137,840 -11% 
2019 / 2020 136,968 -0.06% 
2020 / 2021 50,502 -63% 
2021 / 2022 91,640 +81% 

Growth since last survey  
(2018/9 to 2021/2)  
(and from 97/98) 

 -34% 
(-23%) 

 
  

Page 105



 

 

67 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
Rail year (ends March in last 

year noted) 
Entries / exits Growth / decline 

Silverdale (1,929th) (was 1,994th) Northern 
1997 / 1998 38,146 n/a 
1998 / 1999 37,451 -2% 
1999 / 2000 38,927 +4% 
2000 / 2001 34,301 -12% 
2001 / 2002 30,676 -11% 
2002 / 2003 27,441 -11% 
2003 / 2004 Not collected  
2004 / 2005 34,419 +25% 
2005 / 2006 33,520 -3% 
2006 / 2007 36,082 +8% 
2007 /2008 42,268 +17% 
2008 / 2009 45,080 +7% 
2009 / 2010 45,126 +0.1% 
2010 / 2011 47,024 +4% 
2011 / 2012 44,566 -5% 
2012 / 2013 45,818 +3% 
2013 / 2014 50,404 +10% 
2014 / 2015 59,352 +18% 
2015 / 2016 54,872 -8% (+44% overall) 
2016 / 2017 55,892 +2% 
2017 / 2018 53,218 -5% 
2018 / 2019 47,978 -10% 
2019 / 2020 50,722 +6% 
2020 / 2021 16,202 -68% 
2021 / 2022 41,260 +155% 

Growth since last survey  
(2018/9 to 2021/2)  
(and from 97/98) 

 -14% 
(+8%) 

 
  

Page 106



 

 

68 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
Rail year (ends March in last 

year noted) 
Entries / exits Growth / decline 

Heysham Port (2,321st) (2,353rd) Northern 
1997 / 1998 16,869 n/a 
1998 / 1999 10,070 -40% 
1999 / 2000 6,924 -31% 
2000 / 2001 9,387 +36% 
2001 / 2002 7,682 -19% 
2002 / 2003 6,788 -12% 
2003 / 2004 Not collected  
2004 / 2005 5,696 -16% 
2005 / 2006 5,251 -8% 
2006 / 2007 6,924 +32% 
2007 /2008 7,178 +4% 
2008 / 2009 7,606 +6% 
2009 / 2010 7,752 +2% 
2010 / 2011 8,858 +14% 
2011 / 2012 7,682 -13% 
2012 / 2013 8,310 +8% 
2013 / 2014 9,064 +9% 
2014 / 2015 9,608 +6% 
2015 / 2016 9,128 -5% (-46% overall) 
2016 / 2017 10,158 +11% 
2017 / 2018 9,670 -5% 
2018 / 2019 7,698 -20% 
2019 / 2020 11,450 +49% 
2020 / 2021 1,130 -90% 
2021 / 2022 8,404 +644% 

Growth since last survey  
(2018/9 to 2021/2)  
(and from 97/98) 

 +9% 
(-50%) 

 
  

Page 107



 

 

69 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
Rail year (ends March in last year 

noted) 
Entries / exits Growth / decline 

Wennington (2402nd)(was 2408th) Northern 
1997 / 1998 2,321 n/a 
1998 / 1999 2,461 +6% 
1999 / 2000 2,073 -16% 
2000 / 2001 2,306 +11% 
2001 / 2002 1,811 -21% 
2002 / 2003 2,005 +11% 
2003 / 2004 Not collected  
2004 / 2005 2,900 +45% 
2005 / 2006 2,697 -7% 
2006 / 2007 2,848 +6% 
2007 /2008 3,111 +9% 
2008 / 2009 3,040 -2% 
2009 / 2010 3,222 +6% 
2010 / 2011 3,696 +15% 
2011 / 2012 3,340 -10% 
2012 / 2013 2,948 -12% 
2013 / 2014 3,378 +15% 
2014 / 2015 3,492 +3% 
2015 / 2016 3,956 +13% 
2016 / 2017 4,394 +11% 
2017 / 2018 4,384 -0.2% 
2018 / 2019 4,768 +9% 
2019 / 2020 5,398 +13% 
2020 / 2021 430 -92% 
2021 / 2022 3,604 +738% 

Growth since last survey  
(2018/9 to 2021/2)  
(and from 97/98) 

 -24%% 
(+55%) 

 
 

Page 108



APPENDIX 2 
 

Lancaster Licensing Area Demand Survey 
 

Thank you for our recent discussions during October 2025. This note covers 
the cost of a full survey beginning with a focus on rank work being 

undertaken in mid-November 2025. Please note that LVSA (Licensed 
Vehicle Surveys and Analysis) is a joint trading name covering CTS Traffic 

and Transportation Ltd and Vector Transport Consultancy. The actual legal 
entity for invoicing will be CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd. 

 
Introduction 

LVSA have kept ourselves at the forefront of the developing needs of 
licensing authorities both in terms of ensuring they keep to the latest 

Government Guidance, updated in November 2023 after your last survey. 

Notwithstanding this, the need for the classic unmet demand elements to 
meet the needs of Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act remain within our 

core methodology. 
 

The aim is to provide the licensing authority with early warning of 
impending issues that affect vehicle licensing allowing them to attempt to 

tailor policy to best suit. We believe this fits well with the duties of the 
licensing authority in light of both Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act and 

the still latest Best Practice Guidance (BPG).  
 

During 2025 we have undertaken or are undertaking 18 demand surveys 
under the LVSA banner. These included surveys for local areas including 

Wyre. 
 

In total, across all our demand survey activity, LVSA has undertaken 281 

similar studies for some 108 different authorities with six studies for four 
authorities, five studies for 11 authorities, four studies for 16 authorities 

and 20 studies for three authorities, demonstrating good repeat business. 
Our full list of authorities served can be provided on request. 

 
We can provided written references for two recent authorities, Liverpool 

and Wyre, if necessary. Further referees can be provided if necessary. 
 

Background 
Through our two taxi experts, and principally Ian Millership, we were 

involved in undertaking your last demand survey (reporting in 2023, but 
with the bulk of the data collection in 2022) and also copies of your previous 

surveys many of which were undertaken by the main taxi expert who would 
lead your new study. We have also attempted to keep up with 

developments in your area over the intervening period since your last 

study. This gives us unrivalled knowledge of your area and its licensing 
history and practices.  

Page 109



Under the LVSA umbrella we now undertake almost all demand surveys in 
both England and Scotland at this time. In Scotland we also provided advice 

and have undertaken private hire restriction surveys. 
 

You provided us clarification regarding current rank provision. We have 
updated the level of vehicles and drivers from the DfT surveys undertaken 

each March to the latest end of March 2024 information to inform our 
thoughts regarding your potential study needs (DfT have not published 

their 2025 information this time). 
 

Methodology 
We have identified several potential work items that will build up to provide 

the comprehensive review you aspire to. We discuss each below: 
 

Trade consultation 

Our standard all-trade consultation as required by the current Best Practice 
Guidance (BPG) provides independent feedback to us of key parameters 

such as: 
- The current involvement in the trade 

- What type of involvement they have, i.e. drive, own, operate and 
what kind of vehicle 

- How they obtain their trade 
- What ranks they utilise or areas they service 

 
This is undertaken by your either posting or electronically contacting drivers 

to provide them the explanation and access to the questionnaire (preferably 
completed on-line). 

 
Our current preference for any demand survey update is that the driver 

survey occurs in advance of the main rank work. This has the benefit of 

being able to tailor the expected rank demand work to those ranks that 
drivers say they actually use. It also allows other elements of the work to 

be tailored to identifying evidence of issues that drivers raise. 
 

However, some authorities have the strong belief that undertaking any 
work in advance of the rank work can lead drivers to ‘play up’ to the survey 

by ensuring ranks are covered more than they might normally be. Our 
methodologies are designed to minimise the chance for such behaviour to 

skew the results (see further below). We can therefore undertake that 
survey after the rank work, but that delays the reporting time by around 

two months. 
 

We would provide you with updates on returns every week once the initial 
issue of the survey by yourselves had been made.  

 

 
 

Page 110



Public views 
A current version of our standard demand survey on-street consultation 

would be undertaken in the two main centres covering up to 100 interviews 
in each of Lancaster and Morecambe. This would identify current views from 

the public in the area about their present and proposed use of licensed 
vehicles, and provide an up to date set of direct views.  

 
This public consultation also identifies the key ‘latent demand’ element of 

the study by asking people if and when they had given up waiting for 
hackney carriages either at ranks or by hailing.  

 
Some authorities now have well-developed consultation sections. We could 

provide an online version of the on-street interview form for your 
consultation section to promote, either based on your internet, or feeding 

into our servers, as suits. If the former option was used, your consultation 

section would need to forward us the electronic results to interpret. We 
have provided an extra cost for our element of this offer. In a recent survey, 

this added some 200 extra interviews to the public tapestry and was very 
valuable in adding to the information gathered on-street (which is essential 

to gain non-user information, whereas the social media based version tends 
to focus on users, and often those with a strong view). 

 
Testing of rank-based demand 

The ultimate way to keep any authority away from any possibility of legal 
challenge regarding unmet demand significance is to have direct 

information about demand at ranks. This is the most expensive part of any 
study yet also the clearest evidence of performance. Our report would 

highlight from various sources evidence about the likely locations where 
unmet demand might be developing that could be significant (SUD).  

 

We now believe that your rank work could be undertaken during November 
2025. This matches the November 2019 date for your previous study. 

Content would be confirmed at inception. 
 

The rank work will include sample observation of active plates on all three 
days of the survey to provide the level of activity of the hackney carriage 

(and other) fleets at key points around the central area. This is critical to 
understand how many plates are providing the observed level of service to 

the public at the ranks. 
 

Results from the rank work will be tested using the industry standard ‘Index 
of Significance of Unmet Demand’ (ISUD) which identifies level of public 

service provided from the appropriate inputs from both rank and on-street 
interviews. We will also follow the spirit of the suggested public interest test 

outlined by the Law Commission although principally led by the current BPG 

document guidance at the time of undertaking the survey work. 
 

Page 111



Key stakeholders 
We would approach a range of key stakeholders as defined in the BPG to 

seek their views of the impact of the present hackney carriage (and private 
hire) service provided on their customers and businesses.  

 
This would include: 

-supermarkets 
-pubs 

-bars 
-night clubs 

-hotels 
-leisure attractions 

-public transport providers 
-other appropriate groups 

 

We would also include disability representatives. 
 

We would advise that the present culture is lack of response to any form of 
stakeholder consultation, given that our work is not statutory, but we will 

use all available methods to seek to obtain views. We would also draw on 
any formal discussions or representations made to the licensing authority 

in this regard (which are usually rare, but some of which you have 
mentioned particularly on the disability facet). 

 
Again, this element could also be promoted internally by your consultation 

team if possible, again adding value. 
 

Overall summary 
The results from each of the above reviews would be drawn together to 

provide a comprehensive review of the state of the industry as far as is 

known in 2025. This would highlight trends and inform possible policy 
decisions. The report would be built up and reported as each section of 

work was concluded to ensure the licensing authority, committee and trade 
could be kept aware at all times of the latest state of knowledge of the 

industry and its potential future. 
 

Study costs 
Our estimated fee for undertaking your study would be £ 12, 250 + VAT.  

 
Overall reporting is included in each element above 

 
Further details can be provided once initial consideration by yourselves of 

the options above have been undertaken. 
 

The proposed payment schedule of staged payments would be agreed on 

appointment 
 

Page 112



We would also advise you that we utilise the services of a factoring 
company as part of the payment process, more details of which will be 

provided to you at Inception. 
 

This price does not include a presentation of results to committee. A cost 
for a virtual or for a face-to-face presentation could be provided if and when 

necessary. 
 

Further contact can be made by email to ian.millership@ctstraffic.co.uk; by 
mobile phone on 07976 344254, or by prior agreement to 0121 558 2259 

as long as your phone system does not withhold its number, or in last resort 
to our main office number on 01772 251400. 
 

 

Page 113

mailto:ian.millership@ctstraffic.co.uk

	Agenda
	6 Existing Dual Drivers Licence Holder
	APPENDIX 1 - INITIAL EMAIL FROM POLICE
	APPENDIX 2 - Copy of messages
	APPENDIX 3 - Committee Report 2019 and warning letter
	APPENDIX 4 - COMPLAINT AND OUTCOME
	APPENDIX 5 - Complaint Outcome letter

	7 Urgent Decision Review of a Dual Drivers Licence
	Decision Notice - Appendix A

	8 Hackney Carriage Area Demand Survey
	Appendix 1 - 20022 Survey
	Appendix 2 - Scope of Proposed Survey


